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A

ll the right moves. FDC realizes the importance

of foresight in today’s volatile business landscape. This is
why it stays attuned to the changing times, expanding in
areas where it perceives strength and making strategic
moves for long-term growth. FDC will continue to adhere
to sound policies and solid core values that have seen
the company through the most challenging times.
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Filinvest Development Corporation and Subsidiaries
Financial Highlights
(Amounts In Thousand of Pesos, Except Earnings Per Share Data)
2002

2001

2000

4,733,447

4,869,116

5,488,977

Income Before Income Tax

411,893

366,385

736,201

Net Income

52,027

499,449

772,589

Return on Assets (ave.)

0.1%

0.8%

1.3%

Return on Equity (ave.)

0.2%

1.7%

2.6%

Operating Results
Revenues (1)

Financial Position
Total Assets

63,401,360

60,732,963

60,379,921

Total Debt

9,527,024

10,752,737

11,346,661

29,920,022

29,798,617

29,371,278

5,955,725

5,955,725

5,955,725

Gross Debt to Equity

31.8%

36.1%

38.6%

Net Debt to Equity

24.7%

28.9%

29.2%

Primary Earnings

0.009

0.084

0.130

Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share

0.009

0.084

0.127

Stockholders’ Equity
No. of Shares Outstanding (‘000)

Per Share Data

(1) Effective 2002, in accordance with updated accounting standards, revenues pertain to Sales instead of realized gross profit which
was used in previous years.
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Financial Highlights
Net Income

52

499

772

In Million Pesos

2002

2001

2000
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Organization Structure

www.filinvestgroup.com

Property Development
FILINVEST
ALABANG, INC.

FILINVEST
ASIA CORP.

www.filinvestcorpcity.com

Office Condominium

FILINVEST
LAND, INC.
www.filinvest-land.com
Residential Property

CYBERZONE
PROPERTIES, INC.

FESTIVAL
SUPERMALL INC.

www.northgate-cyberzone.com
I.T. Zone

www.festivalsupermall.com
Commercial Property

Banking and Financial Services
EAST WEST
BANKING CORP.
www.eastwestbanker.com
Commercial Bank

Other Services
UNIVERSAL TELECOM
SERVICE, INC.
National Mobile Trunked
Radio System

H.B. FULLER
(PHILS.)

HOCHENG
PHILIPPINES

NORTHGATE
CONVERGENCE CORP.

Adhesives Manufacturing

Sanitary Wares Manufacturing

Communications and
Value-added Services
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Joint Message
Amid a global economic slowdown in 2002, the Philippine economy proved resilient, posting its highest
growth rate since the 1997 Asian financial crisis. Gross Domestic Product grew by 4.6%, exceeding the
expectations of both the government and the private sector. This was attributed to the strong performance of the
agriculture and services sectors particularly during the last quarter. However, with the recent war in Iraq, the
SARS epidemic and the country’s budget deficit, the government has lowered growth targets for 2003 in
anticipation of tougher times ahead.
The real estate industry, Filinvest Development Corporation’s (FDC) core business, remained sluggish but
showed an improvement in 2002 by posting 1.6% growth from -0.3% in 2001.
Taking its cue from the recovering real estate sector, FDC pursued a cautious and deliberate program of
expansion with emphasis on good product value vs. competition, development phases matching market demand,
stringent operating expense control and financial management with a bias towards cashflow generation.
Financial Highlights
As of December 31, 2002, FDC consolidated total assets amounted to P63.40 billion and total
stockholders’ equity stood at P29.92 billion.
Total revenues dipped slightly to P4.733 billion from the previous year’s P4.869 billion. Costs and
operating expenses decreased by 4% from P4.502 billion down to P4.321 billion in 2002.
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Income before income tax for 2002 amounted to P411.89 million or a 12% growth over the previous
year level of P366.38 million. This increase was a result of the Group’s prudent management of its expenditures.
Several cost-cutting measures were implemented which caused our real estate operating expenses to drop by 10%.
Net income, however, dropped to P52.03 million in 2002 from P499.45 million in 2001 primarily because
of the negative provision for income tax last year amounting to P342.93 million. On the deferred portion of income
tax, a benefit of P313.51 million arising from net taxable operating loss carry-over was recognized last year against
an income tax provision of P27.28 million this year. The decrease in net income also resulted from this year’s higher
earnings applicable to minority interest. Last year’s earnings applicable to minority interest was reduced because of
the loss incurred by a subsidiary with 40% minority interest. In 2002, that subsidiary registered a substantial decrease
in net loss, causing an increase in the earnings applicable to minority interest this year.
Many of the investments in the last few years are expected to generate revenue in 2003 and beyond,
while interest expense resulting from such investments is already being carried in our books. It is expected that net
income should start to take an upward climb by 2003.
Building Up a Recurring Income Base
FDC’s strategy of building up its recurring income base has picked up its pace. Its rental revenues from
Festival Supermall, Northgate Cyberzone Plaz@ buildings and PBCom Tower increased by 11% this year. Over 1999
to 2002, the EBITDA of Filinvest Alabang Inc. (FAI) which owns Festival Supermall and Cyberzone Properties Inc.
has grown at an average rate of 25%. Its recurring income base accounts for about 82% of FAI’s revenues. As a
result, FDC’s recurring income base as a percentage of total revenues has grown from 4% to 15% over the last five
years.
FAI is expected to continuously build up its rental income as it adds to its roster of retail properties. In
2002, land development for Westgate, a 9.5-hectare master-planned retail and entertainment block within Filinvest
Corporate City and a commercial block along Alabang-Zapote road were completed. It has attracted key locators
such as PriceSmart, Nissan, Kia, Caltex, Congo Grille, among many others. While rental revenue started to roll in by
2002, significant contribution is expected after the tenants complete their construction in 2003.
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Likewise, call center tenants started to sign up leases towards late 2002 after the effects of September 11
settled down. Rental contribution from the IT buildings of Northgate Cyberzone and PBCom Tower of Filinvest Asia
Corporation (FAC), both PEZA-accredited information technology zones, will significantly accelerate as tenants
complete their fit-outs in 2003. We are targeting full occupancy by year-end 2003.
Steady Focus on Core Strength – Basic Housing
FDC’s residential property arm, Filinvest Land Inc. (FLI) continued to focus on its core expertise – basic
housing. Amidst the aftermath of September 11 and the Afghanistan war, uncertainties and insecurities continue to
influence investment decisions of local Filipinos as well as overseas Filipino workers. Sales registered an increase of
7.4% to P1.653 billion compared to P1.54 billion of the previous year. FLI continued to cater to a broad spectrum of
residential subdivision and housing markets in Metro Manila and the National Capital Region, as well as Cebu and
Davao. A carefully orchestrated expansion program called for the opening of new phases within existing developments
in order to increase inventory turnover without requiring substantial capital expenditure. The new product lines
introduced were Nusa Dua Farm Estates in Cavite, a residential community for the gentleman farmer, and the Village
Front, a retail commercial cluster complementing Brentville International in Mamplasan, Binan.
Maximizing our Valuable Land Bank
Progress in Filinvest Corporate City continued at a steady pace under Filinvest Alabang, Inc’s aggressive
development and marketing efforts. The objective of the group is to optimize its 100-hectare valuable commercial land
bank by conceptualizing products which effectively retail commercial land sales.
FAI conceptualized and successfully opened The Palms Country Club in August 2002. The Palms far
exceeded the expectations of its members who purchased their shares for P500,000 at the start of club construction.
Riding on the success of club operations, current prices have hit P700,000 and its membership roll has grown to over
1,100 to date. The Palms set a new benchmark in sports club development and serves as the foundation for three more
leisure/hospitality projects for the Filinvest Group which will be announced in late 2003.
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In late 2002 and the first half of 2003, FAI saw an upsurge in commercial lot sales. Four commercial lots
worth over P325 million were sold in a span of 7 months. However, revenues from lot sales are for recognition in 2003.
FAI intends to launch two more medium-rise condominiums in 2003, namely 2301 Civic Place and West Parc.
Construction of Vivant Flats commenced in April 2003 and is scheduled for delivery in mid-2006.
Investing for Growth in Banking
Expansion, growth and profitability were the key elements in East West Bank’s (EWB) performance in 2002.
The bank posted a remarkable growth of 54.32% in net income and deposit liabilities increased by 26.24% to a year-end
level of P10.88 billion. Total resources reached P14.82 billion, up 22.39%.
EWB opened nine personalized banking centers to reach its current branch network of 47. It expects to add
30 more branches in the next two years as a result of its recent acquisition of Ecology Bank. While branch expansion is
expected to put a burden on operating expenses, EWB is confident that the medium-term benefits will far outweigh the
short-term costs. An extensive branch network is a necessity to serve its corporate clients in its bid for long term growth.
Meeting Financial Commitments
The year 2002 can be counted as the most challenging year for FDC in terms of financial management. Its
foremost accomplishment in 2002 is the full redemption by FLI of its US$100-million SUPeR Guaranteed Convertible
Bonds in February 2002. This closely followed the effective redemption in full of FDC’s US$150-million convertible bonds
last November 2001. The redemption of both issues including premium payments by the Group was a formidable task to
undertake under trying economic conditions. This is part of your management’s serious commitment to honor its
obligations to its creditors, which forms the cornerstone for its 47-year excellent credit track record. As part of our effort to
reduce the Group’s leverage, we have strived to bring down our debt from a high of P20.89 billion in 1998 to its 2002 level
of P9.53 billion. We intend to further pare this down through a combination of sale of non-core assets, capital raising
activities and gradual payment from operating funds. FDC had a low debt to equity ratio at 0.32: 1.00 at end-2002.
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Outlook for the Future
For 2003 and beyond, FDC remains cautiously optimistic, taking into consideration the political and economic
developments that will inevitably affect the Philippines as a member of the global community. As always, the company
will continue to adhere to the sound financial policies and solid core values that have seen it through the most
challenging times. Careful financial allocation, controlled leverage, clear return guidelines for projects, and prudent
cashflow management will prevail in investment decisions. Now, more than ever, and coming from the extended Asian
financial crisis, each move the company makes will be part of a deliberate strategy with the end goal of securing longterm benefits and preserving stability and excellence which have been the company’s legacy for over four decades
now.

ANDREW L. GOTIANUN, SR.
Chairman & CEO

L. JOSEPHINE GOTIANUN YAP
President & COO
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Operating Highlights

Filinvest Land, Inc.

Residential Property
Development

www.filinvest-land.com
Filinvest Land, Inc.’s (FLI) realized gross profit of P1.073 billion grew by 4% from 1.032 billion in 2001
while income before income tax increased by 9% from P621 million to P675 million. Net income after tax was down to
P504 million from the previous year’s P531 million because of a higher provision for income tax arising from the smaller
proportion of tax-free income derived from socialized housing revenue, Home Guaranty Corporation (HGC)-enrolled
installment contract interest income, and non-taxable income from subsidiary earnings.
FLI highlighted the year 2002 with the expansion of new phases
in its existing developments while its new product line was limited to farm
estates.

Spanning the economic spectrum, the projects were specifically

targeted at niche markets where demand remains strong.
FLI launched the following projects: VISTA HILLS 2 in Calamba
for the affordable market, THE TROPICS for the mid-range Corte Bella
market, THE CLASSIQUES and THE VILLAGE FRONT commercial area at
Brentville International for the high-end sector.
The residential farm estate, NUSA DUA, in Tanza, Cavite
targeted the gentleman farmer in the pre-retirement market segment.

Classiques model units at Brentville International
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Brentville International
PROMINENCE I marked a major milestone when it reached 100% development. With all of its townhouse units
sold, Prominence I was officially handed over by FLI to its homeowners association in October 2002. Prominence II was then
launched to meet market demand. Designed along the same classic Mediterranean architecture of Prominence I, the new
Prominence II features both townhomes and 12 units of single-detached houses. An added feature is that foreigners can buy
and register the Prominence II single-detached homes of their choice under their own name through the Certificate of
Condominium Title (CCT).
In 2003, Prominence II buyers will be given the privilege to use the firstclass amenities of The Palms Country Club, a “resort-within-the-city”
family club located within Filinvest Corporate City in Alabang, for a limited
period.
THE CLASSIQUES, Brentville’s single-detached luxury
home series, opened with three model homes: Alexandria, Larissa and
Kassandra.
All three were designed along classic Mediterranean
architectural lines and feature generous living space in their versatile floor
plans. Public response was enthusiastic, with two of the three model
homes sold within three months from the official launch date.
THE VILLAGE FRONT, Brentville’s commercial center, was
also formally launched in 2002. The first building at the Village Front is
Prominence II Townhouses
now complete, with the ground floor now being offered for lease to
selected tenants and the second floor serving as the sales office. The
commercial center will offer a varied tenant mix to cater to the essential
needs of the residents and transients.
In May 2003, Brentville opened the main clubhouse to its select group of loyal clients. With 289 sqm of space
for leisure and recreation facilities such as the multipurpose hall, swimming pool, basketball court and function room, the
main clubhouse is expected to enhance the lifestyle experience of the Brentville homeowner.
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Filinvest East
County

To energize the development of FLI’s township in Rizal and
expand its market reach, Filinvest East County introduced new house and
lot packages in MISSION HILLS and HIGHLANDS POINTE.
Highlight of the year was the formal agreement forged
between FLI and San Beda College. Under the Memorandum of
Agreement (MOA) signed by both parties, FLI donated 10 hectares of
property inside FEC where San Beda will build its satellite school. The
school is slated to open in June 2004. As the first Benedictine presence
in the province of Rizal, San Beda Rizal is expected to bring quality
education to FEC as well as attract homebuyers to the area.

Daphne model house at Highlands Pointe

Corte BellaThe Metro Homes Division
Since its launching, ALDEA VERDE, the newest sub-community of Serra Monte Villas in Quezon City,
continues to enjoy brisk sales in the middle-income market. To date, majority of its inventory has been sold. Its open-space
amenities are also nearing completion.
Bannering the year was Corte Bella’s new CASA CIELO home models of Athena, Daphne and Diana.
Designed to meet market demand for fresh designs, these affordable homes have spacious and flexible floor plans,
making them the latest homes of choice for those with growing families.
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Futura Classic –
The Affordable Housing Division
For 2003, a new line of improved Tree Series house models
are slated to be launched. Consisting of Aspen (157.5 sqm), Walnut
(115.8 sqm), Molave (90.50 sqm) and Narra (58.65 sqm), these new
models are set to be launched in BLUE GRASS in Batangas,
WOODVILLE, CRYSTAL AIRE and FAIRWAY VIEW, all in Cavite.

Crystal Aire tree park

Regional Developments
In the regions, CORONA DEL MAR in Cebu and
ORANGE GROVE in Davao continue to generate
significant sales.
For 2003, operations are going full-blast to
complete the development of these projects. For
Orange Grove, two additional phases (Phases 3 and
4) were opened for sale. Affordable house and lot
packages are being planned for phase 4, with only 16
units of these to be offered.

Entry to Corona del Mar
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Farm Estates
The Bali-themed NUSA DUA in Tanza, Cavite
had a very successful launch early in 2002, with 25% of lots
in phases 1 and 2 sold in the first few weeks alone. Market
interest was sustained by continuous activities such as the
Greenthumb Guide lecture series, Harvest Days, exhibits,
and farm tours onsite.
New developments slated for Nusa Dua in 2003
include setting up parks and playgrounds and finishing the
entry marker, entrance gate and amenities area in time for the
buyers’ expected move-in by the first quarter of the year.
Nusa Dua model farm

International Sales
The global economic slowdown contributed to the softening of our overseas market, which affected our
international sales efforts. However, new markets in France and in the United Kingdom were opened up and showed
good results in sales of affordable housing during our initial selling operation.
To strengthen our overseas marketing, plans being drawn up for 2003 include: exploring and forging links
with remittance firms and banks to introduce Filinvest projects to their clientele of overseas Filipino workers (OFWs); the
reactivation of existing broker and agent networks as well as boosting recruitment efforts; implementing selling activities in
countries such as Italy, the Middle East, the Netherlands and other European countries where there is a strong OFW
presence.
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Industrial Estates
The FILINVEST TECHNOLOGY PARK CALAMBA (FTPC) was formally registered with the Philippine
Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) as a Special Economic Zone, after President Gloria Macapagal-Arroyo signed
Presidential Proclamation No. 155 declaring the estate as one. Later, PEZA approved FTPC’s application as an
Ecozone Facilities Enterprise, giving it the right to develop Ready-Built Factories (RBFs) for lease on-site. Currently,
the existing RBF, a 1,856-sqm duplex structure, is already completed and is partially occupied.
FTPC inked an agreement with its first locator, Philippines Dong Yun Plate Making Corporation, for the purchase of a
1.3-hectare property where the latter will base its facilities. A mainland China-based operating company, PDY
Corporation is engaged in high-technology laser engraving. They are expected to begin operations by June 2003.
FTPC is set to complete its transition from development to operations by 2003. In line with this, the
Marketing Agency Agreement between FTPC and Nissho Iwai Corporation for the exclusive marketing rights to the
Japanese market has been extended. Parallel to this are increased efforts to tap the domestic market, which is
showing stronger potential for 2003.
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Commercial Property Development
Filinvest Alabang, Inc.
www.filinvestcorpcity.com
The marked improvement of the investment climate in 2002 spurred development activities in Filinvest
Corporate City, the 244-hectare satellite city and central business district in Alabang, Muntinlupa City.
Filinvest was able to close the sale of a 2,201-square meter lot in the Spectrum Business District in the
last quarter of 2002, followed by three more lot sales in 2003.
Rental revenue reached P547 million, an increase of 4% from the previous year. Together with Festival
Supermall, rental income was enhanced by the commercial retail block along Alabang-Zapote Road where Caltex gas
station started operations in December 2002 and where Nissan and Kia will begin construction of their showrooms in
2003.
Westgate Center was formally launched to the business community in the 2nd quarter of 2002. Land
development for the 9.5-hectare Westgate Center was finished during the year. PriceSmart, the wholesale club,
opened its doors to the public in November 2002. At the Auto Precinct, Minerva Tyre Gallery will be joined by the car
accessory shops that will occupy the completed auto cluster buildings by mid-2003. New locators at the Central
Precinct, most of whom are finishing their construction in 2003, include Brothers Burger, Congo Grille, Cinnabon,
Gloria Jean’s Coffee, Country Waffles, among others. Locators at the Home Precinct such as the Orientique
Enterprises showroom and Mugunghwa Garden Korean Restaurant will join the already-operating Fitness First and
East West Bank at the Home Precinct.

Congo Grille

PriceSmart Alabang
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The Palms Country Club started operations in August 2002.
The club is now fully operational with more than 1,100 shares sold since
2001 and a workforce of 237. Special events organized for members
included a fun walk for charity, Christmas card contest, cooking classes,
wine seminar, Halloween children’s party, Thanksgiving lunch and dinner,
and a Christmas party. As the 1,200 remaining shares are sold in the next
three years, the Palms will provide a stream of trading income.
The Palms
Country Club

South Central

The soft launch for South Central, Filinvest’s newest commercial
development, is scheduled for the third quarter of 2003. Covering a 6.2-hectare bloc,
South Central will feature a retail center with five cluster buildings and an inter-modal
transport terminal. Bus companies and FX and jeepney associations in the temporary
terminal in Festival Supermall have expressed interest in moving to South Central once
it starts operations. Leasehold rights will be sold in order to improve its return on capital
while rental income will still be collectible over the lease term.

Scheduled for launching in 2003 are the West Parc
residential condominiums and 2301 Civic Place, a medium-rise home
office building that will cater to professionals in the area. Vivant Flats is
scheduled for construction in mid-2003 and will start providing trading
income as the building reaches completion in mid-2006.

2301 Civic Place
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Festival Supermall
www.festivalsupermall.com
Operating for four years now, Festival Supermall continues to post steady growth amid the growing
competition. The year 2002 saw a 10% increase in the sales of its tenants. The mall added 49 new names to its growing
roster of specialty stores and restaurants. Among these are The Black Shop, SariSari Store, Penshoppe Ladies, Timex,
McJim Leather Gallery, Kuryente, Electronic Depot, Comic Quest, Popeye Chicken and Biscuits, Racks, Seattle’s Best,
Ducks Unlimited and Fukuya Japanese Restaurant.
While gross revenue of the mall reached P552 million in 2002, it is expected to significantly increase in
2003 as another supermarket moves in and occupies the first floor of the anchor B area. A Christian fellowship group will
occupy part of the 4th floor while other tenants such as a fitness center and a Chinese school are expected to start
operations in 2003.
Capturing a bigger share of the market with its innovative and aggressive
marketing efforts, Festival Supermall strengthened its position as the premier shopping
destination in the south. In 2002, the cinema experience at the Festival Cinemas took a
more sophisticated twist with the launching of C-Square, a dining and entertainment hub
in the cinema lobby, through a fashion show and other promotional activities.
Representing the four C’s of entertainment – café, concert, culture and cinema – CSquare offers themed theater bars with light snacks, high-end hobby shops, arts and
gadget stores, and coffee shops.
In addition to live entertainment and special musical events held regularly at the Carousel Court, the mall
also introduced special treats for the loyal patrons of restaurants and bars at Chefs Avenue as live bands and seasoned
entertainers took center stage with the mall’s “Festive Episodes” concert series.
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Festival Supermall affirmed its position as the center of local festivities and events for special interests. It
hosted the Masskara Festival, a “dress up your pet” show dubbed Petscapade, Cinderella presentations by Ballet
Philippines, and Guess Manila Philharmonic in Jeans Year 5, among others.
Notable among the major trade exhibitions held last year were the La Union “Treasures of the North” and
the furniture fair of the Chamber of Furniture Industry of the Philippines (CFIP).
Despite the economic slump and bomb scare scenarios, these activities helped generate steady
customer traffic with a daily average count of 75,000 that easily doubles during holidays and weekends.
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Office Property Development
Filinvest Asia
Corporation
For the year 2002, leasing activity increased in PBCom Tower, Filinvest
Asia Corporation’s (FAC) joint development with the Philippine Bank of
Communications. FAC was able to achieve a total space commitment for about 67%
of Filinvest’s share of the total leasable area of 31,000 sqm. Revenues of FAC has
reached P53 million, an increase of 232% from the previous year.
The 52-storey PBCom Tower now houses around 20 multinational
companies in the industries of banking and finance, insurance, pharmaceutical, and
I.T.-related services such as contact centers, business process solutions and systems
development.

PBCom Tower

Food Patio, PBCom Tower’s food court on the 7th floor, is gearing up for
its June 2003 opening. It will feature indoor and outdoor dining areas and a range of
food choices for the building’s office workers and visitors.
Strategically located at the corner of Ayala
Avenue and Herrera Street in Makati, PBCom Tower is an
excellent choice for companies looking for a Grade A office
building. As a Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA)approved information technology zone, locators are likewise
entitled to a package of tax and other benefits granted to
companies in these special economic zones.
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CyberZone Properties,
Inc.
www.northgatecyberzone.com
The contact center industry was the biggest source of
leasing revenue for the 18.7-hectare Northgate CyberZone with the entry
of Infonxx and the Philippine office of APAC Customer Services, Inc. in
2002. The two companies acquired a combined area of 6,400 square
meters in the zone’s Plaz@ buildings B and C for their call center
operations. The buildings are now 75% leased, with the remaining office
inventory under negotiation with other technology companies and
Plaz@ building B at Northgate CyberZone

expected to be concluded in 2003.

Rental revenue is expected to be more than P30 million in 2003 as the tenants that signed up in 2002
complete their fit-outs and start rental in the 2nd quarter of 2003.
Informatics International College, the zone’s pioneer academic
institution, started offering short courses in June 2002. Undergraduate and
masteral degree programs will be available by June 2003.

APAC contract signing
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Banking and Financial
Services
East West Bank
www.eastwestbanker.com
East West Banking Corporation ended the year with a remarkable growth in net income, new business
opportunities, and a trail of new branch openings. Its resources galloped by P2.71 billion to P14.82 billion, reflecting
an increase of 22.39% from the previous year’s P12.11 billion. Total deposits rose by 26.24%, bringing deposit
liabilities to P10.88 billion. A key factor to this unprecedented growth is the continued expansion of its loan portfolio
which grew by 16.21%, or P1.24 billion to end the year at P8.89 billion. Overall net earnings stood at P82.11 million
compared to P53.2 million in 2001. Net income increased by 54.32% even after allocating loan loss provisions of
P128 million.
In 2002, the bank opened nine Personalized Banking Centers (PBCs) in different parts of the country,
bringing its total branch network to 47. The new PBCs were opened in key provincial areas of Baguio, Cabanatuan,
Calamba, Dagupan, Lucena, San Fernando Pampanga, Cagayan de Oro and Zamboanga. During the year, the
Festival Supermall extension office was converted into a full service branch. Its new office in Westgate Center in
Alabang showcases the noveau architectural design and contemporary color scheme that will be the standard for
future branches.
The bank also expanded its ATM network to 52 with the installation of 10 onsite ATMs and three offsite
ATMs in Cavite, St. Paul’s Pasig and Metropolitan
New serviceHospital.
and product delivery channels, the Net Access and Mobile Access,
were launched last year. Net Access is East West Bank’s online banking facility
that allows individual and corporate clients a range of banking transactions on
the Internet through the website: www.eastwestbanker.com. Mobile Access,
made possible through an alliance with one of the country’s leading providers of
mobile phone services, allows individuals to perform banking transactions
through their GSM mobile phones.
Cagayan de Oro branch opening
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Foremost in the area of business development was consumer lending, specifically for home mortgage loans
which grew by more than 30%. With renewed calls from the government to extend financing for housing, the bank
aggressively pushed its Home Suite Loan facility. This offers five loan packages that address the borrower’s financing
needs for lot or house purchases, home construction and improvements, and working capital purposes. East West Bank
also enhanced the Customer Protect Financing Scheme that allows the borrowers to pre-determine their monthly
amortization payments for the entire term of the loan. The bank applied for and was granted a principal license from
Mastercard International, paving the way for the establishment of its credit card business.
To achieve a stable base for its consumer business and to bridge the maturity gap of funding source and
usage, the bank introduced long-term time deposit products, the 3-year Premium Time Deposit and the 5-year
SecuredFuture Fund that give depositors premium interest rates and tax-free benefits. Likewise, the cash management
facility dubbed Corporate Suite was enhanced with a series of customer-centered changes in the PayrollAssist, BizCheque
and BillsPay products.
Income growth was spurred by trading and securities gains from the bank’s Treasury Operations. Supported
by the new treasury system, the OPICS Treasury and Risk Management Solution, Treasury established its own marketing
group to address the more sophisticated needs of high-end clients. At the same time, backroom operations were beefed up
to support the increasing volume of business while controlling the inherent business risk.
Since adopting a more aggressive marketing stance, East West Bank took steps to ensure that control
measures were in place especially with the new BSP and SEC requirements on good corporate governance. New
independent directors were appointed to head the Audit and Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committees.
Preparations for a corporate governance manual were undertaken alongside the revision of the Risk Management manual.
Realizing the importance of people resources, the bank embarked on a Total Quality for Excellence (TQE)
program to galvanize the entire organization into becoming customer-centric, values-driven and quality-conscious.
Encouraged by its performance last year, the bank looks forward to an aggressive channeling of its key
people and organizational structure to support key businesses in 2003, specifically in the areas of Consumer Loans,
Branch Banking and Treasury Operations. Branch expansion will continue at full steam with the BSP approval of the
acquisition of Ecology Bank, a thrift bank with a 30-branch network. Continuous improvements in operations through
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various information technology solutions will be pursued to support the bank’s business growth.
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Statement of Management’s Responsibility for
Financial Statements

The management of FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION is responsible for all information and
representations contained in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2002.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the Philippines and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed judgment of
management with appropriate consideration to materiality.
In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary
internal controls to ensure that transactions are properly authorized and recorded; assets are safeguarded against
unauthorized use or disposition and liabilities are recognized.
The Board of Directors reviews the consolidated financial statements before such statements are approved and
submitted to the stockholders of the Company.
SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co, the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have examined the
consolidated financial statements of the Company in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
Philippines and have expressed their opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such audit, in their
report to the stockholders and the Board of Directors.

Andrew L. Gotianun Sr.
Chairman

L. Josephine G.
Yap
President

Efren M. Reyes
Senior Vice President &
Treasurer
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Report of Independent Public Accountants
SGV & Co
The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Filinvest Development Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Filinvest Development Corporation and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Philippines. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Filinvest Development Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the Philippines.
As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Filinvest Group has given retroactive effect to
changes in accounting for the Company’s buildings under property and equipment, interest of Filinvest Alabang, Inc. (a
subsidiary) in Filinvest Corporate City (a joint venture), and the Filinvest Group’s preoperating expenses, and in the
presentation of the Filinvest Group’s real estate sales and cost of real estate sales as separate captions in the
consolidated statements of income.
April 14, 2003
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FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in Thousands of Pesos)

December 31
2001
(As restated see Note 2)
2002
ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables - net (Notes 4 and 17)
Loans and Discounts (Note 5)
Subdivision Lots, Condominium and Residential
Units for Sale (Note 6)
Investments (Note 7)
Condominium Projects in Progress
Land and Land Development (Note 8)
Property and Equipment - net (Note 10)
Land - at revalued amounts
Deferred Income Tax - net (Note 27)
Other Assets - net (Note 11)
TOTAL ASSETS

P2,122,525
=
2,723,947
7,396,123

P2,149,144
=
2,828,336
6,797,505

10,606,346
3,579,636
–
14,062,551
4,583,009
15,180,125
1,651,862
1,495,236
=63,401,360
P

9,459,022
2,212,869
183,279
14,682,437
4,569,400
15,132,509
1,133,570
1,584,892
=60,732,963
P
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LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Deposit Liabilities (Note 12)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (Notes 13 and 17)
Income Tax Payable
Deferred Income Tax (Note 27)
Note Payable
Long-term Debt (Note 14)
Bonds Payable (Note 15)
Unrealized Gross Profit on Installment Contracts Receivable,
Sales of Condominium Units and Club Shares
Estimated Liability for Land and Property Development
Minority Interest
Total Liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock (Note 16)
Additional paid-in capital
Revaluation increment in land
Share in revaluation increment in land of a subsidiary
Retained earnings
Net unrealized loss on decline in market value of noncurrent
marketable equity securities (Note 7)
Treasury stocks
Total Stockholders’ Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

=10,784,042
P
4,743,197
5,495
1,337,355
92,613
8,093,288
1,341,123

P7,618,064
=
5,116,690
–
791,778
–
7,673,409
3,079,328

52,629
648,506
6,383,090
33,481,338

208,770
711,408
5,734,899
30,934,346

5,958,124
2,099,874
66,188
12,333,357
9,507,086

5,958,124
2,099,874
23,363
12,333,357
9,455,059

(20,387)
(24,220)
29,920,022

(46,940)
(24,220)
29,798,617

=63,401,360
P

=60,732,963
P

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in Thousands of Pesos)
December 31
2001
(As restated see Note 2)
2002
ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables - net (Notes 4 and 17)
Loans and Discounts (Note 5)
Subdivision Lots, Condominium and Residential
Units for Sale (Note 6)
Investments (Note 7)
Condominium Projects in Progress
Land and Land Development (Note 8)
Property and Equipment - net (Note 10)
Land - at revalued amounts
Deferred Income Tax - net (Note 27)
Other Assets - net (Note 11)
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Deposit Liabilities (Note 12)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (Notes 13 and 17)
Income Tax Payable
Deferred Income Tax (Note 27)
Note Payable
Long-term Debt (Note 14)
Bonds Payable (Note 15)
Unrealized Gross Profit on Installment Contracts Receivable,
Sales of Condominium Units and Club Shares
Estimated Liability for Land and Property Development
Minority Interest
Total Liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock (Note 16)
Additional paid-in capital
Revaluation increment in land
Share in revaluation increment in land of a subsidiary
Retained earnings
Net unrealized loss on decline in market value of noncurrent
marketable equity securities (Note 7)
Treasury stocks
Total Stockholders’ Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

P2,122,525
=
2,723,947
7,396,123

P2,149,144
=
2,828,336
6,797,505

10,606,346
3,579,636
–
14,062,551
4,583,009
15,180,125
1,651,862
1,495,236
=63,401,360
P

9,459,022
2,212,869
183,279
14,682,437
4,569,400
15,132,509
1,133,570
1,584,892
=60,732,963
P

=10,784,042
P
4,743,197
5,495
1,337,355
92,613
8,093,288
1,341,123

P7,618,064
=
5,116,690
–
791,778
–
7,673,409
3,079,328

52,629
648,506
6,383,090
33,481,338

208,770
711,408
5,734,899
30,934,346

5,958,124
2,099,874
66,188
12,333,357
9,507,086

5,958,124
2,099,874
23,363
12,333,357
9,455,059

(20,387)
(24,220)
29,920,022

(46,940)
(24,220)
29,798,617

=63,401,360
P

=60,732,963
P
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FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands of Pesos, Except Earnings Per Share)
Years Ended December 31
2001
2000
(As restated - see Note 2)
2002
REVENUE
Real Estate Operations
Sale of lots, condominium and residential units
(net of discount on sale of P
=14 million in
2002 and P
=261.3 million in 2001) (Note 4)
Realized gross profit from prior year’s sales
Rentals, sales of club shares, interest and other
income (Note 20)

=1,745,208
P
332,430

=1,583,713
P
345,287

=2,130,368
P
82,423

1,648,685
3,726,323

1,757,399
3,686,399

2,181,576
4,394,367

858,080
–
149,044
1,007,124
4,733,447

1,080,955
–
101,762
1,182,717
4,869,116

837,862
1,598
255,150
1,094,610
5,488,977

Financial and Banking Services (Note 19)

928,717
189,971
2,105,935
3,224,623
1,096,931

608,799
250,270
2,332,069
3,191,138
1,311,593

969,305
218,355
2,386,232
3,573,892
1,178,884

TOTAL COST AND EXPENSES
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

4,321,554
411,893

4,502,731
366,385

4,752,776
736,201

Financial and Banking Services
Interest (Note 4)
Underwriting and other fees
Others
TOTAL REVENUE
COST AND EXPENSES
Real Estate Operations
Cost of sales of lots, condominium and residential
units and club shares
Deferred gross profit
Operating expenses (Note 18)

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)
INCOME TAX (Note 27)
Current
Deferred
INCOME BEFORE NET EARNINGS
APPLICABLE TO MINORITY INTEREST
NET EARNINGS APPLICABLE TO
MINORITY INTEREST
NET INCOME
Earnings Per Share (Note 22)
Basic
Diluted

76,523
27,285
103,808

74,385
(313,511)
(239,126)

98,371
(351,309)
(252,938)

308,085

605,511

989,139

256,058
P52,027
=

106,062
P499,449
=

216,550
P772,589
=

=0.009
P
0.009

=0.084
P
0.084

=0.130
P
0.127
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FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN
STOCKHOLDERS’EQUITY
(Amounts in Thousands of Pesos)

Capital
Stock
BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2000
AS PREVIOUSLY STATED

= 5,958,124
P

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
= 2,099,874
P

Effect of adopting SFAS 16/
IAS 16 in accounting for
property and equipment (Note 2)

–

–

Effect of adopting SFAS 38/IAS 38 in
accounting for preoperating
expenses of subsidiaries (Note 2)

–

–

5,958,124

Net income for the year as previously stated

Revaluation
Increment in
Land
= 132,267*
P

= 12,333,357
P

Retained
Earnings
= 8,095,576
P

=–
P

Treasury
Stocks

Total

(P
= 24,220)

= 28,594,978
P

–

100,241

–

–

(8,663)

–

–

(12,796)

–

–

(12,796)

2,099,874

23,363

12,333,357

8,183,021

–

–

–

–

–

776,300

–

–

776,300

Effect of adopting SFAS 16/
IAS 16 in accounting for
property and equipment (Note 2)

–

–

–

–

684

–

–

684

Effect of adopting SFAS 38/IAS 38 in
accounting for preoperating
expenses of subsidiaries (Note 2)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Net income for the year as restated

–

–

–

–

–

–

BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2000
AS RESTATED

(108,904)

Share in
Revaluation
Increment in
Land of
Subsidiary

Net
Unrealized
Loss on
Market
Value of
Noncurrent
Marketable
Equity
Securities

(4,395)
772,589

(24,220)

28,573,519

(4,395)
772,589
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B ALANCES AT DECEMB ER 31, 2000
AS RESTATED

(24,220)

29,346,108

5,958,124

2,099,874

23,363

12,333,357

8,955,610

–

Net income for the year as previously stated

–

–

–

–

509,658

–

–

509,658

Effect of adopting SFAS 16/
IAS 16 in accounting for
property and equipment (Note 2)

–

–

–

–

684

–

–

684

Effect of adopting SFAS 38/IAS 38 in
accounting for preoperating
expenses of subsidiaries (Note 2)

–

–

–

–

(10,893)

–

–

(10,893)

Net income for the year as restated

–

–

–

–

499,449

–

–

499,449

Decline in value of noncurrent marketable
equity securities

–

–

–

–

–

(46,940)

–

(46,940)

5,958,124

2,099,874

23,363

12,333,357

9,455,059

(46,940)

Net income for the year

–

–

–

–

52,027

–

–

52,027

Recovery in value of noncurrent marketable
equity securities (Note 7)

–

–

–

–

–

26,553

–

26,553

Share in revaluation increment in land
of a subsidiary

–

–

42,825

–

–

–

–

42,825

(P
=20,387)

(P
=24,220)

=29,920,022
P

B ALANCES AT DECEMB ER 31, 2001
AS RESTATED

B ALANCES
AT DECEMB ER 31, 2002

=5,958,124
P

=2,099,874
P

=66,188
P

=12,333,357
P

=9,507,086
P

(24,220)

29,798,617

* Includes revaluation increment in building of P
= 108,904.
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Thousands of Pesos)

Years Ended December 31
2001
2000
(As restated - see Note 2)
2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Interest income
Interest expense
Provision for (benefit from) income tax
Net earnings applicable to minority interest
Provision for probable losses
Gain on sale of property
Operating income before changes in operating assets
and liabilities
Decrease (increase) in:
Receivables
Loans and discounts
Subdivision lots, condominium and
residential units for sale
Increase (decrease) in:
Deposit liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Unrealized gross profit on installment contracts
receivable, sales of condominium units and
club shares
Cash from operations
Interest received - banking and financial services
Interest paid - banking and financial services
Income taxes paid
Net cash from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Decrease (increase) in:
Condominium projects in progress
Land and land development
Investments
Other assets

=499,449
P

=772,589
P

225,607
(1,140,183)
1,407,509
103,808
256,058
86,366
86,410
1,077,602

320,639
(1,754,372)
1,916,588
(239,126)
106,062
170,537
–
1,019,777

325,514
(1,783,871)
1,361,983
(252,938)
216,550
63,786
–
703,613

(500,538)
(598,618)

1,808,525
(2,676,140)

4,449,648
(409,204)

(1,147,324)

(102,566)

(465,372)

3,165,978
(365,270)

1,941,682
(423,130)

1,940,304
(1,401,718)

(156,141)
1,475,689
945,983
(587,037)
(71,027)
1,763,608

(339,628)
1,228,520
1,059,071
(650,060)
(74,406)
1,563,125

99,852
4,917,123
826,417
(488,690)
(75,308)
5,179,542

906,613

597,385

957,454

=52,027
P

183,279
742,001
(1,913,850)
(67,507)

(10,819)
(1,635,899)
823,201
(6,752)

(1,057,645)
(1,608,424)
(6,052)
(17,620)
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Years Ended December 31
2001
2000
(As restated - see Note 2)
2002
Net acquisitions of bank premises, furniture,
fixtures and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investments in shares
of stock
Net cash from (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from (payments of) long-term debt, notes,
loans, bills and acceptances payable
Redemption of bonds
Interest paid - real estate
Increase in minority interest
Net cash used in financing activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR (Note 3)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR (Note 3)

(P
=367,289)

(P
=405,523)

–
(600,173)

–
(2,137,810)

512,492
(1,738,205)
(1,013,826)
392,132
(1,847,407)

3,190,076
(3,784,000)
(1,082,873)
90,113
(1,586,684)

(1,429,667)
(795,508)
(873,293)
1,220,733
(1,877,735)

(26,619)

(623,732)

(P
=279,785)
486,429
57,180

1,163,997

2,149,144

2,772,876

1,608,879

P2,122,525
=

=2,149,144
P

=2,772,876
P

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Corporate Information
Filinvest Development Corporation (the Company) and Subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the Filinvest Group or the Group) is engaged in real estate operations as a developer of raw
land, residential subdivision and mixed-use urban projects including condominium and
commercial buildings, industrial and farm estates. The Filinvest Group is also involved in mall
operations, banking and financial services. The Company’s registered office address is 173 P.
Gomez Street, San Juan, Metro Manila. The Group has 1,643 and 1,418 employees as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost basis, except for land which is carried at revalued amounts, and in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the Philippines.
The consolidated accounts of East West Banking Corporation (EWBC) are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Philippines for the banking
industry. These reflect the accounts maintained in the Regular Banking Unit (RBU) and
Foreign Currency Deposit Unit (FCDU). The books of accounts of the RBU are maintained in
Philippine pesos, while those of the FCDU are maintained in United States (US) dollars. For
financial reporting purposes, the accounts of the FCDU are translated into their equivalent
amounts in Philippine pesos based on the Philippine Dealing System Weighted Average Rate
(PDSWAR) prevailing at the end of the year (for resource assets and liabilities) and at the
average PDSWAR for the year (for income and expenses). Gains or losses arising from foreign
exchange transactions and restatement of foreign currency denominated resources and liabilities
are credited or charged to current operations.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the Philippines requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of income, expenses, assets, and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.
Adoption of New Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)/
International Accounting Standards (IAS)
The Group adopted the following SFAS/IAS which became effective in 2002:

•

SFAS 16/IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment. As permitted by the standard, the Company
reverted to the cost basis of accounting for its buildings under property and equipment. Previously,
buildings were carried at revalued amounts. The effect of the change was reflected retroactively in
prior year consolidated financial statements. The restatement of the consolidated financial statements
resulted in a decrease in net assets by P
=7.29 million and an increase in retained earnings by P
=100.24
million, representing the balance of revaluation increment in property previously absorbed through
depreciation. Additional disclosures relating to property and equipment, principally disclosure of
changes in the property and equipment items, were included in 2002 (see Note 10); and

•

SFAS 31/IAS 31, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures. Filinvest Alabang, Inc. (FAI),
a subsidiary, changed its method of accounting for its interest in Filinvest Corporate City (FCC), a
joint venture, to the proportionate consolidation method whereby FAI consolidates on a line-by-line
basis of FCC’s assets, liabilities, income and expenses with similar items in FAI’s financial
statements. Previously, the interest in FCC was accounted for using the equity method. The change
was reflected retroactively in prior years consolidated financial statements. The restatement of prior
years consolidated financial statements resulted in the increase in total assets and total liabilities by P
=
14.23 million in 2001. The change has no effect on the consolidated net assets and consolidated net
income

The Group also adopted the following new standards in 2002 which did not result in restatements of prior year
consolidated financial statements. Additional disclosures required by the new standards, however, were
included in prior year consolidated financial statements, where applicable.
•
•

SFAS 24/IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures;
SFAS 27/IAS 27, Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments in
Subsidiaries; and
• SFAS 36/IAS 36, Impairment of Assets. Following the introduction of SFAS 36/IAS 36, the Group
recognized an impairment loss amounting to P
=70.97 million representing the write down of certain
investments to recoverable amount.
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In addition, the Group’s practice has been to report revenue from real estate sales net of the related direct costs
and expenses. In 2002, the Group presented the real estate sales and cost of real estate sales as separate captions
in the consolidated statements of income. Prior years’ consolidated financial statements presented were
accordingly restated.
New Accounting Standards Effective Subsequent to 2002
The Accounting Standards Council (ASC) has approved the following SFAS/IAS which will become effective
subsequent to 2002:
•

SFAS 38/IAS 38, Intangible Assets, which establishes the criteria for the recognition and measurement of
intangible assets. Intangible assets that are recognized should be amortized generally over 20 years. The new
standard also requires that expenditures on research, start-up, training, advertising and relocation be expensed
as incurred. The Group opted for the early adoption of SFAS 38/IAS 38 in 2002 as encouraged by the ASC.
Previously, preoperating expenses of the Group were deferred and amortized over five years. The change in
accounting policy has been accounted for retroactively and the comparative statements for 2001 and 2000
have been restated in conformity with the benchmark treatment

As a result of the early adoption of SFAS 38/IAS 38, consolidated net income for 2001 and 2002 decreased by P
=
10.89 million and P
=4.39 million, respectively. Retained earnings as of January 1, 2000 decreased by P
=12.79
million, resulting from the write-off of the balance of preoperating expenses as of such date.
•

SFAS 37/IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, which provides the criteria for
the recognition and bases for measurement of provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets. It also
specifies the disclosures that should be included with respect to these items. The Group will adopt SFAS
10/IAS 10 in 2003 and, based on current circumstances, does not believe that the effect of the adoption will
be material.

•

SFAS 10/IAS 10, Events After the Balance Sheet Date, which prescribes the accounting treatment and
disclosures related to the adjusting and non-adjusting subsequent events. The Group will adopt SFAS 10/IAS
10 in 2003 and, based on current circumstances, does not believe that the effect of the adoption will be
material.
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•

SFAS 17/IAS 17, Leases, which prescribes the accounting policies and disclosures to
apply to finance and operating leases. Finance leases are those that transfer substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. A lessee is required to capitalize finance
leases as assets and recognize the related liabilities at the lower of the fair value of the
leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the
lease. The lessee should also depreciate the leased asset. On the other hand, lessees
should expense operating lease payments. The Group will adopt SFAS 17/IAS 17 in 2004
and, based on current circumstances, does not believe the effect of adoption will be
material.

•

SFAS 21/IAS 21, The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, which provides
restrictive conditions for the capitalization of foreign exchange losses, is effective
beginning January 1, 2005. As of December 31, 2002, the accumulated capitalized
foreign exchange losses included under the “Land and Land Development” account in the
consolidated balance sheets amounted to P
=44 million net of amount regarded as borrowing
costs. Upon adoption in 2005, these capitalized foreign exchange losses will be adjusted
against beginning retained earnings and prior years consolidated financial statements
presented will be restated accordingly.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Filinvest Development
Corporation and those of the companies it controls. This control is normally evidenced when
the Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights of the
Company’s share in capital and is able to govern the financial and operating policies of an
enterprise so as to benefit from its activities. The equity and net income attributable to
minority interest are shown separately in the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated
statements of income, respectively.
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The consolidated financial statements include the accounts as of December 31 of each year of Filinvest
Development Corporation and the following controlled subsidiaries:

FDC Capital (Cayman Islands) Ltd. (FDCCCIL)
Filinvest (Cayman Islands) Ltd. (FCIL)
Filinvest Alabang, Inc. (FAI)
Festival Supermall, Inc.
FSM Cinemas, Inc.
Cyberzone Properties, Inc. (CPI)
Northgate Convergence Corporation (NCC)
Proplus, Inc.
East West Banking Corporation (EWBC)
Filinvest Asia Corporation (FAC)
Filinvest Land, Inc. (FLI)
FLI Capital (Cayman Islands) Ltd. (FLICL)
Property Maximizer Professional Corp.
* includes 20% share of FLI in FAI
** includes 10% share of FAI in FLI

Percentage of Ownership
2001
2002
100
100
100
100
90*
90*
100
100
60
60
100
100
100
100
–
100
60
60
60
60
60**
58***
100
100
100
100

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. All significant intercompany transactions
and balances are eliminated in consolidation. The excess or deficiency of the Company’s cost of
such investments over its proportionate share in the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries at dates
of acquisition is amortized on a straight-line basis.
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Revenue and Cost Recognition
a. Real Estate Operations
Income from sales of completed subdivision and commercial lots and residential units from
which FAI and FLI received sufficient downpayment is accounted for using the full
accrual method. Under this method, revenue is not recognized until the earnings process is
substantially complete and the collectibility of the sales price is reasonably assured.
Income from sales of subdivision lots and housing units with small downpayment, if any,
is recognized on the installment method. Income on installment sales is realized based on
collections multiplied by the gross profit rate on individual sales contract. Unearned
interest income on installment contracts receivable is amortized over the term of the
contract.
Income from sales of condominium and residential units and club shares where FAI and
FLI have a material obligation to complete the development of the sold property, and the
underlying property project of club shares is accounted for using the percentage-ofcompletion method. Under this method, gross profit is recognized proportionately as the
related obligations are fulfilled.
The cost of subdivision and commercial lots, condominium and residential units and club shares
sold before completion of the projects are determined based on actual costs and project
estimates of contractors and the subsidiaries’ technical staff. The estimated future expenditures
for the development of the sold portion of subdivision and commercial lots and condominium
and housing units are shown under the “Estimated Liability for Land and Property
Development” account in the consolidated balance sheets. Actual expenditures are charged to
this account as incurred.
Mall revenues are recognized as income when the right to receive payment is established
pursuant to the terms of the mall operations agreement.
Rental revenue is recognized over the duration of the lease term, inclusive of the rent-free
periods.
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b. Financial and Banking Services
Interest on loans and other interest-bearing placements and securities are recognized based
on the accrual method of accounting, except in the case of past due receivables where
interest income on these receivables is recognized only to the extent of cash collections
received.
Unearned discounts are amortized to income over the term of the loans, using the interest
method. Interest income on nondiscounted loans are accrued as earned, except in the case
of past due loans as required by the existing regulations of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas
(BSP). Interest income on these past due accounts are recognized only to the extent of
cash collections received.
Fees and commissions are generally recognized on the accrual basis. Commitment fees are
recognized as a percentage of unavailed credit lines. Service charges and penalties are
recognized only upon actual collection or accrued when there is a reasonable degree of
certainty as to their collectibility.
c. Others
Income from temporary cash placements, government securities and other short-term
investments are recognized net of the related final tax. Any accrued interest on these
investments is presented as part of receivables.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and cash in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of
three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash and cash equivalents also include cash and other cash items due from BSP and other
banks and interbank loans receivable and securities purchased under agreements to resell of
EWBC which represent cash placements with maturities of three months or less from dates of
placements
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Receivables
Receivables are stated at face value, less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate
for doubtful accounts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.
Loans and Discounts
Loans of EWBC are stated at the outstanding principal balances, reduced by unearned discounts
and allowance for probable losses.
Loans and discounts are classified as nonaccruing in accordance with BSP regulations, or when, in
the opinion of management, collection of interest or principal is doubtful. At the time the
receivable is classified as nonaccruing, interest previously recorded but not collected is reversed
and charged against current operations. Interest income on these receivables is recognized only to
the extent of cash collections received. Receivables are not reclassified as accruing until interest
and principal payments are brought current or the loans receivable are restructured in accordance
with existing BSP regulations, and future payments appear assured.
Allowance for Probable Losses
The allowance for probable losses of EWBC, which includes both specific and general loan
lossreserves, represents management’s estimate of probable losses inherent in the receivable from
customers portfolio, after consideration of prevailing and anticipated economic conditions, prior
loss experience, estimated recoverable value based on fair market values of underlying collaterals
and prospects of support from any financially responsible guarantor, subsequent collections
including, as appropriate, estimated cash flows and evaluation made by the BSP. The BSP
observes certain criteria and guidelines based largely on the classification of receivables from
customers in establishing specific loan loss reserves.
The allowance for probable losses is established through provisions for probable losses charged to
current operations and reduced by write-off and reversals. Receivables are written off against the
allowance for probable losses when management believes that the collectibility of the principal is
unlikely.
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Subdivision Lots, Condominium and Residential Units for Sale
Subdivision lots, condominium and residential units for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost includes costs incurred for the development, construction and improvement of
the properties. Net realizable value represents current selling price less estimated cost to complete the
development, and marketing and selling expenses.
Investments
The investment securities of EWBC are accounted for as follows:
a. Trading account securities

b. Available-for-sale securities
c. Investments in bonds and other
debt instruments

Fair market value; gains or losses on revaluation to
market are included in the consolidated statements
of income.
Fair market value; gains or losses on revaluation to
market are deferred until realized.
Amortized cost; provision for permanent decline in
market value is included in the consolidated
statements of income.

Investments in marketable equity securities are carried at the lower of aggregate cost and
market value, determined at balance sheet date. The amount by which the aggregate cost of the
investments exceeds market value is accounted for as a valuation allowance. The valuation
allowance to reduce the carrying amount of the investments in noncurrent marketable equity
securities is shown as “Net unrealized loss on decline in market value of noncurrent marketable
equity securities” in the Stockholders’ Equity section of the consolidated balance sheets. The
set up of valuation allowance for any substantial and presumably permanent decline in the
carrying value of other investments in shares of stock is recognized in the consolidated
statements of income.
Investments in club shares is carried at cost.
Investments in shares of stock in which the Group does not exercise significant influence and
other investments are carried at cost. An allowance, if any, is set up for any substantial and
presumably permanent decline in the carrying value of these investments.
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Interest in Joint Venture
FAC, a joint venture (JV) of the Company and Reco Grand Homes of Singapore, and FAI’s
interest in FCC, a JV, are accounted for by the proportionate consolidation of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenses on a line-by-line basis. Sales of real estate by the joint
venture, is accounted for using the full accrual method. Previously, the interest in FCC joint
venture was accounted for using the equity method. [see Note 2, “Adoption of New
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)/International Accounting Standards
(IAS)”].
Condominium Projects in Progress
Condominium projects in progress are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Costs include all expenditures directly attributable to the development and construction of the
projects.
Land and Land Development
Land and land development is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Expenditures for development and improvement are capitalized as part of the cost of the land.
Interest and other borrowing costs incurred to finance the acquisition and development of land
are capitalized as part of “Land and Land Development” account in the consolidated balance
sheet. Net realizable value represents current selling price less estimated costs to complete and
estimated marketing and selling expenses.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and
any impairment in value, except for land which is carried at revalued amounts.
The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally charged to income in the
period in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that
the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be
obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of property and
equipment.

The Company’s land and the land which serves as the site for the commercial mall of FAI are
carried at revalued amounts as determined by independent firms of appraisers. The net
appraisal increment resulting from the revaluation is shown as “ Revaluation increment in
land” account under the Stockholders’ Equity section in the consolidated balance sheets.
Borrowing costs, which include interest and foreign exchange losses regarded as interest cost
adjustments during the period necessary to prepare the property for its intended use are
capitalized under commercial mall.
When items of property and equipment are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated
depreciation and amortization are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting
from their disposal is included in the consolidated statements of income.
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Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the asset as follows:

Commercial mall
Buildings for lease
Buildings and improvements
Transportation equipment
Machinery and equipment
Communication equipment
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

No. of Years
50
50
20-50
5
5
5
3-5

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or their estimated useful lives
(three to 15 years), whichever is shorter.
The useful life and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure
that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic
benefits from items of property and equipment.
Construction-in-progress is stated at cost and includes the cost of construction and other direct
costs. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and put into operational use.

Impairment of Assets
Starting January 1, 2002, the carrying values of property and equipment and other long-lived
assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying
values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written
down to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of property and equipment is the
greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset
that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Any impairment loss is recognized in
the consolidated statements of income.
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Real and Other Properties Owned or Acquired (ROPOA)
Assets acquired in settlement of loans of EWBC are stated at the total outstanding exposure of
the loan at the time of foreclosure or bid price, whichever is lower. Nonrefundable capital
gains tax and documentary stamp tax incurred in connection with foreclosure are capitalized as
part of the carrying values of the foreclosed properties, provided that such carrying values do
not exceed appraised values. Holding costs subsequent to the foreclosure or acquisition of the
properties are charged to operations as incurred.
Allowance for probable losses is set up
for any anticipated significant losses from recorded values based on appraisal reports and
current negotiations and programs to dispose of these properties to other interested parties
including estimated selling cost.
ROPOA is included in “Other Assets” account in the consolidated balance sheets.
Preoperating Expenses and Deferred Charges
Expenses incurred prior to the start of certain subsidiaries’ commercial operations are
capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over applicable periods from the start
of their regular commercial operations.
All direct costs related to the development of software are capitalized and amortized over a
period of five years. Payments made to BSP by EWBC for securing authority to operate
additional branches and related start-up costs are capitalized and amortized over five years.
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Group opted for the early adoption of
SFAS 38/IAS 38 starting January 1, 2002. All preoperating expenses and deferred charges
which do not qualify under the new standard is expensed out starting in 2002.
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Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs generally are expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized if they
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.
Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in
progress and expenditures and borrowings costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are
capitalized until the assets are ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of
the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.
Borrowing costs consisting of interest, accreted premium and foreign currency losses regarded
as interest cost adjustments incurred during the construction period, relative to long-term
borrowings used to finance the property development, are capitalized under “Land and land
development”, “Property and equipment”, “Condominium projects in progress” and
“Investments” accounts in the consolidated balance sheets.

Retirement Costs
The Company and certain subsidiaries’ retirement costs are determined using the projected unit
credit method. This method reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation
and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries. The unrecognized
transition liability, past service costs, and experience adjustments are amortized over the
expected average remaining working lives of covered employees.
Leases
Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the consolidated statements of income
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Provisions
Provisions for loss contingencies are accrued when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred at balance sheet date and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Otherwise, the
loss contingency is disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
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Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
using the rate of exchange at the balance sheet dates. Foreign exchange gains or losses arising
from the settlement of monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially
recorded and those arising from translations are recognized in the consolidated statements of
income during the year, except those arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent
that they are regarded as adjustments to interest costs, which are capitalized as part of the cost
of the “Land and Land Development” and “Commercial Mall” accounts.
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Philippine pesos using the
temporal method. Under this method, all monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
exchange rate prevailing at balance sheet dates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rate for the year. The resulting translation adjustments are credited or
charged to current operations.
Forward Contracts
EWBC and FLI are parties to foreign exchange contracts. These contracts are entered into as
a service to customers (for EWBC) and as a means of reducing and managing the foreign
exchange exposures. Amounts contracted are recorded as contingent accounts which are not
included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. For forward contracts that
are designated and qualify as hedges, the discount or premium is amortized over the term of the
contracts and the revaluation gains and losses are deferred or recognized as income or expense
to match the treatment for the hedged exposures. Forward contracts which are not designated
or do not qualify as hedges are marked to market with the revaluation gains and losses credited
or charged to operations.
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Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to temporary differences between the financial reporting bases of assets and liabilities
and their related tax bases, and the carryforward benefits of net operating loss carryover (NOLCO)
and the excess of the minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income
tax. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates applicable to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled and NOLCO and MCIT are expected to be applied. A valuation allowance is provided for
deferred income tax assets when it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred income
tax assets will not be realized in the future. Any change in the valuation allowance on deferred
income tax assets is also included in the provision for deferred income tax for the year.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income applicable to common stock by the weighted
average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year, after giving retroactive
adjustment for any stock dividend declaration. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by
the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year after giving
effect to assumed conversion of bonds and the retroactive adjustment for any stock dividend
declaration.
3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand and due from banks
Interbank loans receivable and securities purchased
under agreements to resell

2002
2001
(Amounts in Thousands)
=2,122,525
P
=1,899,144
P
–
=2,122,525
P

250,000
=2,149,144
P
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4. Receivables
The details of the Group’s receivables are as follows:

Due Within
One Year
Mortgage, notes and installment
contracts receivable - net of
deferred interest income of
=
=110,798 in 2002 and P
P
484,658 in 2001
Advances to joint venture partners
Accrued interest
Receivable from tenants
Receivable from sale of
condominium units and club
shares
Due from affiliates (see Note 17)
Advances to contractors, officers
and employees
Receivable from Bureau of
Internal Revenue
Others - net of allowance for
doubtful accounts of
=10 million in 2002
P

P
= 718,162
410,871
341,758
113,575

2002
Due Within
Due After
One Year
One Year
Total
(Amounts in Thousands)

2001
Due After
One Year

Total

P587,445
=
412,065
213,338
–

=310,712
P
–
–
–

P898,157
=
412,065
213,338
–

P
= 285,921 P
= 1,004,083
–
410,871
–
341,758
–
113,575

28,605
108,199

97,345
–

125,950
108,199

190,049
4,677

11,057
–

201,106
4,677

44,978

–

44,978

235,350

–

235,350

–

–

–

466,722

–

466,722

574,533
P
= 2,340,681

396,921
–
574,533
=2,506,567
P
= 383,266 P
= 2,723,947 P

–
396,921
=321,769 P
P
=2,828,336
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On various dates in 2002 and 2001, FLI entered into agreements to sell certain installment contracts
receivable with recourse to Home Development Mutual Fund (HDMF) and a local bank of up to P
=649.54
million and P
=500 million, respectively, and without recourse to EWBC. The proceeds from the sale were
used to partly redeem the Step-Up Premium Redemption Guaranteed Convertible Bonds (SUPeR bonds),
which matured in February 2002 (see Note 15), and to fund various businesses and projects. For the
installment contracts receivable sold to HDMF and a local bank, FLI continues to collect on behalf of and
remits to the purchasers, on a monthly basis, the aggregate maturing principal amortization plus interest
agreed-upon by both parties. FLI is contingently liable for the amount of installment contracts receivable
sold to HDMF and a local bank in case debtors fail to pay.
The following summarizes the information on installment contracts receivable sold (In Thousands):

Buyer

Discount
Amount Sold On Sales

Deferred
Interest

Net Amount

Realized
Gross Profit

EWBC
=1,071,772
P
2,262,086

(P
=14,016)
(261,289)

(P
=476,532)
(879,009)

=581,224
P
1,121,788

P142,667
=
574,767

HDMF
164,045
291,643

–
–

(83,019)
(121,638)

81,026
170,005

31,591
68,192

143,154
770,527
=1,378,971
P
=3,324,256
P

–
–
(P
=14,016)
(P
=261,289)

(16,949)
(473,412)
(P
=576,500)
(P
=1,474,059)

126,205
297,115
=788,455
P
=1,588,908
P

6,892
105,116
=181,150
P
=748,075
P

Local bank

TOTAL
TOTAL
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The related profit realized on the sale of the receivables amounting to P
=181.15 million in 2002 and
=748.08 million in 2001 is reported in the consolidated statements of income, net of the related
P
=14.02 million in 2002 and
discount on sale of receivables to EWBC amounting to P
=261.29 million in 2001. The discount relates mostly to batches of short-term noninerest-bearing
P
receivables.
FLI has a mortgage insurance contract with Home Guaranty Corporation (HGC), a government
insurance company, for a retail guarantee line amounting to P
=2.0 billion over a period of 20 years
starting October 1, 1988 and renewable annually. In 2002 and 2001, additional retail guarantee
line amounting to P
=3.0 billion and P
=1.5 billion, respectively, were secured by FLI with coverage
period of one year and renewable annually. Under the terms of the line, HGC guarantees the
repayment of the loans granted by FLI to buyers of subdivision lots and housing units including
interest specified thereon. In case of default by the buyers, HGC shall pay the insured loan to FLI
with a 10-year interest-bearing bond.
Installment contracts receivable amounting to P
=879.39 million and P
=2.23 billion were insured
under this guarantee line as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The insured balance as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001 includes installment contracts receivable sold amounting to
=788.46 million and P
P
=1.59 billion, respectively.
Other receivables in 2001 include receivables arising from the Stock Purchase Agreement between
FAI and Asian Hospital, Inc. (AHI) amounting to P
=78.8 million, which was fully collected on
January 25, 2002.
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5. Loans and Discounts
Loans and discounts consist of:
2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
=6,952,016
P
=7,481,636
P

Loans and discounts (see Note 4)
Customers’ liabilities under acceptances and
trust receipts
Bills purchased

469,791
80,042
8,031,469
(116,222)
(519,124)
=7,396,123
P

Unearned discounts
Allowance for probable losses

418,222
134,968
7,505,206
(222,950)
(484,751)
=6,797,505
P

The following presents the breakdown of receivables from customers by contractual maturity dates
(Amounts in Thousands):
2001

2002

Loans and discounts
Customers’ liabilities under
acceptances
and trust receipts
Bills purchased

Due Within
One Year

Due After
One Year

Total

Due Within
One Year

= 3,833,472
P

= 3,648,164
P

= 7,481,636
P

=2,506,675
P

214,016
80,042

255,775
–

469,791
80,042

418,222
134,968

= 4,127,530
P

= 3,903,939
P

=3,059,865
P

= 8,031,469
P

Due After
One Year

Total

=4,445,341
P

=6,952,016
P

–
–
=4,445,341
P

418,222
134,968
=7,505,206
P

The following shows information relating to loans by collateral (Amounts in Thousands):

Secured:
Real estate
Securities
Hold-out on deposits
Quedans
Chattel
Others
Unsecured

2002

%

2001

%

=3,151,087
P
787,250
245,645
80,000
28,411
84,212
4,376,605
3,654,864
=8,031,469
P

39.23
9.80
3.06
1.00
0.35
1.05
54.49
45.51
100.00

=4,303,351
P
15,597
307,325
75,000
77,799
2,761
4,781,833
2,723,373
=7,505,206
P

57.34
0.21
4.09
0.99
1.04
0.04
63.71
36.29
100.00
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Non-performing loans amounted to P
=1.3 billion and P
=1.1 billion as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.
Information on the concentration of credit as to industry follows (Amounts in Thousands):

Financial intermediaries
Manufacturing
Real estate, leasing and
business services
Wholesale and retail trade
Agriculture, fisheries and
forestry
Transport, storage and
communications
Others

2002
P2,067,802
=
1,717,596

%
25.75
21.38

2001
=1,231,386
P
1,528,413

%
16.41
20.36

1,344,698
1,220,958

16.74
15.20

1,887,096
977,378

25.14
13.02

390,034

4.86

421,001

5.61

152,299
1,138,082
=8,031,469
P

1.90
14.17
100.00

315,640
1,144,292
=7,505,206
P

4.21
15.25
100.00

The BSP considers that concentration of credit exists when total loan exposure to a particular industry
or economic sector exceeds 30% of the total loan portfolio.
In 2002 and 2001, EWBC amortized discount obtained from its purchases of installments contracts
receivable of FLI (see Note 4) amounting to P
=118.5 million and P
=59.5 million, respectively.
Changes in the allowance for probable losses related to loans of EWBC are summarized as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Provisions
Balance at end of year

2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
=325,683
P
=484,751
P
159,068
34,373
=484,751
P
=519,124
P
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6. Subdivision Lots, Condominiums and Residential Units For Sale
Subdivisions lots, condominiums and residential units for sale consist of:

Subdivision and residential units
Office condominium (see Note 9)
Aspen Tower condominium

2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
=7,193,687
P
=8,025,781
P
2,109,732
2,580,565
155,603
–
=9,459,022
P
=10,606,346
P

7. Investments
Investments consist of:
2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
Trading and investment securities - net of allowance
for probable losses of P
=54.21 million in 2002
and P
=9.86 million in 2001
Investment in club shares
Shares of stock of other companies - net of allowance
for impairment loss of P
=70.97 million and
probable losses of P
=16.67 million in 2002
Noncurrent marketable equity securities - net
of unrealized decline in value of
=20.39 million in 2002 and P
P
=46.94 million in
2001

=2,079,773
P
705,323

=1,257,876
P
367,415

413,550

402,581

380,990
=3,579,636
P

184,997
=2,212,869
P

The aggregate market value of EWBC’s trading and investment securities (consisting of BSP
treasury bills, private commercial papers, debt securities fixed rate treasury notes and others)
amounted to P
=2.04 billion and P
=871.10 million as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.
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The Company’s retained earnings include undistributed equity in net earnings of subsidiaries
and associates amounting to P
=11.28 billion, =
P10.92 billion and =
P9.7 billion in 2002, 2001, and
2000 respectively, which are not available for dividend declaration until distributed by the
subsidiaries and associates. Retained earnings are further restricted for payment of dividends
to the extent of the cost of common shares held in treasury amounting to P
=24.22 million.
On various dates in 2002, the Company sold 82.3 million shares or approximately 2% equity
in FLI and realized a loss amounting to P
=86.0 million. The loss on disposal of FLI shares is
included in “Rentals, Sales of Club Shares, Interest and Others” revenue account in the
consolidated statements of income.
On September 14, 2000, FAI entered into a subscription agreement with “The Palms Country
Club, Inc.” (the Club) to fully subscribe to all the additional shares of the Club consisting of
4,592 shares (1,900 Class “A” shares, 250 Class “B” shares, 150 Class “C” shares and
2,292 Class “D” shares). In exchange, FAI will contribute a total amount of P
=920.0 million
consisting of a 30,000 sqm. parcel of land in FCC valued at P
=420.0 million and P
=500.0 million
for the development of the Club’s “The Palms” (the Project) into a world class sports and
country club. On November 20, 2000, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
approved the Project’s application for increase in authorized capital stock. FAI subscribed to
2,292 Class “D” non-assessable shares for P
=1,000 per share.
In September 2001, FAI transferred the 30,000 sq.m. parcel of land with actual cost of
=257.2 million to “The Palms” as agreed upon in the subscription agreement in exchange for
P
the Club’s shares of stock. FAI started selling and marketing the Club shares in 2001.
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Investment in Club shares of “The Palms” consists of (Amounts in Thousands):

Subscription cost of club shares:
Class A, B and C
Class D
Additional development cost (including capitalized
interest of P
=48.1 million in 2002)
Total subscription cost
Less: Allocated cost of sold shares
Deferred gain on exchange of parcel of land
Undelivered portion of commitment

2002

2001

=920,000
P
2,292
922,292

=920,000
P
2,292
922,292

223,634
1,145,926
342,935
97,668
–
=705,323
P

–
922,292
148,903
135,824
270,150
=367,415
P

8. Land and Land Development
Land and land development consists of:

Land
FCC Project (see Note 9)

2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
=8,650,124
P
=8,239,385
P
6,032,313
5,823,166
=14,682,437
P
=14,062,551
P

Capitalized interest and foreign exchange losses regarded as borrowing costs arising from loans
obtained to finance the Company’s and subsidiaries’ (FAI and FLI) on-going projects that are
capitalized as part of “Land and Land Development” account amounted to P
=594.40 million in
2002, P
=462.40 million in 2001 and P
=1.08 billion in 2000.

As of December 31, 2002, certain parcels of land with carrying value of P
=2.86 billion secure the
loans payable of the Company and FAI (see Note 14).
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9. Interests in Joint Ventures
PBCom Tower
On June 14, 1995, the Company and FLI (collectively referred to as “Filinvest”) entered into a
Memorandum of Agreement (the “MOA”) with the Philippine Bank of Communications
(PBCom) for the construction of the PBCom Office Tower (the Project) on parcels of land (the
Property) located in Ayala Avenue, Makati City. On January 30, 1996, Filinvest and PBCom
entered into a First Supplemental Agreement covering the MOA.

Pursuant to the MOA and the First Supplemental Agreement, PBCom shall provide the
Property while Filinvest shall contribute technical expertise and cash equivalent to the fair
market value of the Property for the construction of the Project. For purposes of the Project,
the fair market value of PBCom’s Property was fixed at P
=900 million.
In consideration for PBCom’s Property and for Filinvest’s equal financial contribution, the
parties agreed to divide equally the Project upon completion thereof. To maintain this 50:50
sharing basis, all interest income on Filinvest’s cash contribution as well as project cost
overruns shall likewise be shared equally by both parties.
On September 11, 1996, Filinvest and a third party entered into a Memorandum of
Understanding to form a joint venture corporation that shall hold and manage the 50%
ownership interest of Filinvest under the MOA and in the Project, with the third party
acquiring 40% and Filinvest acquiring 60% of the joint venture corporation’s issued capital.
FLI waived and relinquished all of its rights and interests in and obligations with respect to the
Project and under the MOA in favor of the Company.
On November 15, 1996, the Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the third party
executed a Shareholders’ Agreement (SA) whereby the parties agreed to form a joint venture
corporation to be named Filinvest Asia Corporation which shall hold and manage the 50%
ownership interest of the Company under the MOA and in the Project under the terms and
conditions of the MOA and the SA.
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On April 1, 2001, the construction of the Project has been completed. The Company and PBCom have
already agreed on the assignment of PBCom Office Condominium units based on their respective
contributions. These condominium units are intended for sale. However, in view of the market
conditions, certain condominium units are currently being leased for three to five years and depreciated
over the estimated life of 50 years (see Note 6).
Borrowing costs capitalized as part of PBCom Office Tower Project arising from advances from
affiliates and stockholders amounted to P
=35 million in 2002 and 2001.
FAC’s 50% share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint venture, which are
proportionately consolidated into FAC’s financial statements, for the years ended December 31, 2002
and 2001 are as follows (Amounts in Thousands):
2002

2001

=1,398
P
1,419
5,721
2,040,462
5
2,049,005

=26,067
P
4,737
–
2,009,086
–
2,039,890

Assets
Cash
Receivables
Due from affiliates
Office condominium units
Other assets

(Forward)
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2002
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other payables
Net Assets
Other income
Cash flows from (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

=36,058
P
–
=2,012,947
P

2001
=22,917
P
12,082
=2,004,891
P

=1,596
P

=39,461
P

P16,459
=
(31,381)
(9,746)
(P
=24,668)

=18,180
P
(2,009,086)
2,016,972
=26,066
P

FCC
On April 14, 1993, the Public Estates Authority (PEA) under the Office of the President of the
Republic of the Philippines (as “Owner”) by virtue of Memorandum Order No. 371, entered into
a Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) with the Company (as “Developer”) for the development of a
244-hectare property known as the FCC, formerly Alabang Stock Farm, located in Alabang,
Muntinlupa City into a modern, mixed-use urban center. In September 1993, the Company
assigned to FAI all of its rights and interests relative to the JVA.
FAI undertakes the horizontal development and subdivision of the FCC in accordance with the
Master Development Plan, and the subsequent sale, lease and disposition of individual sites and
lots within the property.
The JVA provides for the contribution by the Philippine Government of the property to the Joint
Venture through PEA. As its contribution to the joint venture, FAI undertakes to develop, at its
own cost, the property in accordance with the Master Development Plan and provide all
administrative, marketing, collection and cash management services for the joint venture. In
addition, FAI shall pay the Philippine Government P
=200 million to be used for the relocation of
existing government structures and facilities in the property and shall relocate at its own expense
all existing squatters and residents of the property. It shall also deliver 2,000 additional housing
units at no additional cost to the Philippine Government.
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Exercising its option provided in the JVA, the Philippine Government further required FAI to
construct and deliver up to a maximum of 19,000 socialized housing units on land to be
provided exclusively by FAI, in exchange for a proportionate percentage of the Philippine
Government’s ownership interest in the joint venture.
In consideration of the respective contributions and undertakings of the parties under the JVA,
FAI and the Philippine Government as represented by PEA are entitled to a share in all revenue
to be derived from the joint venture project at a ratio of 74:26.
In view of FAI’s adoption of SFAS 31/IAS 31 in 2002 (see Note 2), FAI accordingly changed
its method of accounting for its interest in FCC to proportionate consolidation which involves
recognizing a proportionate share of FCC’s income and expense with similar items in its
financial statements on a line-by-line basis. Previously, FAI’s interest in FCC was accounted
for using the equity method. The effect of the change was reflected retroactively as follows:

Cash
Receivables - net
Due from affiliated companies
Accounts payable
Due to affiliated companies
Previously presented as
“Receivable from joint venture”

2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
=13,564
P
=6,129
P
214,207
97,345
41,376
–
(14,229)
(10,144)
–
(721)
=92,609
P

=254,918
P
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10. Property and Equipment
The details of property and equipment are as follows (Amounts in Thousands):

At January 1,
At cost:
Commercial mall
Buildings and improvements
Buildings for lease
Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment
Communication equipment
Transportation equipment
Others
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization:
Commercial mall
Buildings and improvements
Buildings for lease
Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture, fixture and office
equipment
Communication equipment
Transportation equipment

Construction in progress
Net book value

At December 31,

2002

Additions

Disposals

=3,733,564
P
261,731
158,467
90,127
388,008

=21
P
19,009
21,665
57,327
10,293

–
–
–
(1,084)

260,615
54,367
–

= 3,733,585
P
280,740
440,747
201,821
397,217

300,219
76,255
71,078
3,317

71,578
2,119
597
–

(3,326)
–
( 8,477)
(3,317)

–
–
–
–

368,471
78,374
63,198
–

5,082,766

182,609

(16,204)

314,982

5,564,153

278,671
46,264
2,519
19,706
133,309

70,699
19,518
5,162
17,138
20,469

–
–
–
–
(627)

–
–
–
54,363
–

349,370
65,782
7,681
91,207
153,151

211,162
2,540
66,303
760,474
4,322,292

42,009
2,600
3,011
180,606
2,003

–
–
(7,778)
(8,405)
(7,799)

–
–
–
54,363
260,619

253,171
5,140
61,536
987,038
4,577,115

=–
P

Transfer
=–
P

247,108

19,401

–

=4,569,400
P

=21,404
P

(P
=7,799)

2002

(260,615)
=4
P

5,894
=4,583,009
P

Depreciation and amortization charged to operations in 2002, 2001 and 2000 amounted to
=180 million, P
P
=300 million and P
=236 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, total accumulated borrowing costs consisting of interest
and net foreign exchange losses, regarded as interest cost adjustments, capitalized as part of
commercial mall project cost amounted to P
=955 million and P
=976 million, respectively.

Table of Contents

11. Other Assets
Other assets consist of:
2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
=490,463
P
=522,977
P
227,037
319,443
912,175
699,526
1,629,675
1,541,946
44,783
46,710
=1,584,892
P
=1,495,236
P

ROPOA
Deferred charges
Others - net
Less allowance for probable losses

12. Deposit Liabilities
The details of deposit liabilities by contractual settlement dates are as follows:

Due Within
One Year
Demand
Savings
Time

P
= 1,187,987
4,102,354
1,161,700
P
= 6,452,041

2001
Due After
One Year

2002
Due After
One Year

Due Within
One Year
Total
(Amounts in Thousands)
P
= 1,187,987
=610,346
P
P
=–
2,546,634
–
4,102,354
5,493,701
1,899,147
4,332,001
= 10,784,042 P
=5,056,127
P
= 4,332,001 P

=–
P
–
2,561,937
=2,561,937
P

Total
P610,346
=
2,546,634
4,461,084
=7,618,064
P

13. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
The details of accounts payable and accrued expenses are as follows:

Due Within
One Year
Accounts payable
Due to affiliates
(see Note 17)
(Forward)

P
= 1,041,196
1,086,105

2002
Due After
One Year
P
=–
–

Due Within
One Year
Total
(Amounts in Thousands)
=1,432,575
P
P
= 1,041,196
1,086,105

868,650

2001
Due After
One Year
=–
P

Total
=1,432,575
P

–

868,650
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Due Within
One Year
Bills payable and demand
drafts
Accrued interest and
bond premium
Advances from customers
Installment contracts
Domestic bills purchased
Sundry and other credits
Other liabilities

P
= 558,016
255,815
473,023
32,240
50,558
49,124
963,983
P
= 4,510,060

2002
Due After
One Year
P
=–
–
–
148,057
–
–
85,080
P
= 233,137

Total
P
= 558,016
255,815
473,023
180,297
50,558
49,124
1,049,063
P
= 4,743,197

Due Within
One Year
=284,208
P
790,306
585,267
24,055
102,552
65,651
369,033
=4,522,297
P

2001
Due After
One Year

Total

=29,040
P
–
–
182,794
–
–
382,559
=594,393
P

=313,248
P
790,306
585,267
206,849
102,552
65,651
751,592
=5,116,690
P

Installment contracts payable represent the balance of the purchase price of a parcel of land
acquired from Fort Bonifacio Development Corporation in 1997, which is subject to an interest rate
of 10% per annum and payable in 35 equal quarterly installments from January 7, 1999 to October
7, 2007.

14. Long-term Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following respective borrowings of the Group and their contractual
settlement dates:
2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
Company Loans
Loans obtained from a financial institution with
interest rate of 15.43%. The loan is payable in
lumpsum on January 2012 and is collateralized by
parcels
of
land
with
carrying
value
of
=378.2 million.
P

=1,000,000
P

Term loans from a local bank:
Interest equivalent to 3.75% spread over the 91-day
Treasury Bill rate with quarterly repricing, payable
quarterly in arrears. The principal amount is payable
in 12 equal quarterly installments commencing on
August 2004.

750,000

750,000

500,000

500,000

=–
P

Interest equivalent to 3% spread over the MART 1
(three-month Treasury Bill) interest rate or 2% above
the average of three-month PHIBOR rate and MART
1, payable quarterly in arrears.
The principal
amount is payable in 12 equal quarterly installments
commencing on March 2004.
(Forward)
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2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
Interest equivalent to 3.25% spread over the
MART 1 (three-month Treasury Bill) interest
rate or 1.25% above the 90-day PHIBOR,
payable quarterly. The principal amount is
payable in 16 equal quarterly installments
commencing on June 2003.

=683,000
P

Interest equivalent to 4.00% spread over the
MART (1 three-month Treasury Bill) interest
rate or 2.75% above the 90-day PHIBOR,
payable quarterly. The principal amount is
payable in four equal quarterly installments
commencing on April 2004.

265,000

–

Interest rate at 16.5% per annum fixed for five
years. The principal amount is payable in 20
equal quarterly installments commencing on
February 2002. This loan is collateralized by an
assignment of US dollar denominated
Government Bonds amounting to
US$15.7 million.

–

600,000

Interest rate at 12.528% per annum. The
principal amount is payable in 12 equal quarterly
installments commencing on February 19, 2001.
This loan is collateralized by parcels of land with
a carrying value of P
=335.85 million.

–

533,334

Short-term loans from local banks:
Unsecured - interest rate of 12.00% per annum in
2002 and 15.50% per annum in 2001.

200,000

150,000

=–
P

These foregoing term loans from local banks are
collateralized by parcels of land, including the
buildings and improvements thereon with
carrying value of
=823.9 million.
P

(Forward)
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2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
Secured - with various interest rates ranging from
7.65% to 13.20% per annum in 2002 and 13.20%
per annum in 2001. This loan is secured by a Notice
of Assignment and Third Party Memorandum of
Charge covering US$2.2 million deposit in 2002 and
US$1.0 million in 2001.
Unsecured loan with interest rates ranging from
5.00% to 10.75%.
Total Company Loans

=112,200
P

=973,500
P

3,000
3,513,200

3,000
3,509,834

Subsidiaries’ Loans
Long-term commercial paper (LTCP) No. LT 00171 with interest equivalent to 2% over weighted
average 91-day Treasury Bills, payable quarterly.
This commercial paper matures on November 2004.
=2,000,000
P

=2,000,000
P

Syndicated and long-term loans with interest at a
fixed rate payable quarterly in arrears. The loans are
payable in equal quarterly installments, the earliest
started in 2002 (see Note 15).
1,659,021

1,335,000

852,063

828,575

Long-term dollar loan with interest equivalent to
3.25% over the LIBOR and payable semi-annually in
arrears. This loan is payable in 15 equal semi-annual
installments starting in September 2004.

Long-term promissory note with interest rate of 12%,
reviewable monthly and payable quarterly. This is
payable in 8 quarterly installments commencing on
June 11, 2003.
Total Subsidiaries’ Loans
Total

69,004
4,580,088
=8,093,288
P

–
4,163,575
=7,673,409
P
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The annual maturities of the foregoing Company loans are as follows:
Years of Maturity:
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
Thereafter

2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
=–
P
=2,144,633
P
112,200
440,262
229,167
598,667
416,667
653,667
416,667
587,417
190,500
1,233,187
=
P
3,509,834
=3,513,200
P

Syndicated long-term and US dollar loans

2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
Thereafter

2002
Amounts in Thousands
Syndicated
Long-term
Long-term
US Dollar
Total
Loan
Loan
=–
P
=–
P
=–
P
260,398
–
260,398
424,355
56,804
481,159
402,482
113,608
516,090
275,139
113,608
388,747
568,043
296,647
864,690
=1,659,021
P
=852,063 P
P
=2,511,084

2001
Amounts in Thousands
Syndicated
Long-term
Long-term
US Dollar
Loan
Loan
Total
=38,889
P
=–
P
=38,889
P
212,778
–
212,778
347,778
55,238
403,016
347,778
110,477
458,255
212,777
110,477
323,254
175,000
552,384
727,384
=1,335,000
P
=828,576 P
P
=2,163,576
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LTCP
The instrument was sold through general public offering starting November 15 to 17, 1999.
The LTCP is secured by a negative pledge on the assets of FLI. FLI undertook not to allow
any of its assets to be the subject of any liens or encumbrance, unless the benefit of such lien or
encumbrance is extended at the same time to secure payment of the LTCP.
Long-term Promissory Note
The long-term promissory note represents the balance of the P
=70 million loan granted by a
local bank to FLI to partly finance the land development and construction of houses of a
certain project. The loan is payable in three years, inclusive of one year grace period on
principal, in eight quarterly installments to commence in June 11, 2003. The loan is covered
by, among others HGC bond guarantee cover, and assignment of contracts of sale for endbuyers whose accounts shall be taken out by the lender.
The related borrowing costs arising from the foregoing borrowings that were capitalized as
part of land and land development amounted to P
=171.31 million and =
P165.02 million in 2002
and 2001, respectively.
Syndicated and Long-term Loans
The syndicated and long-term loans were substantially obtained by FAI in 2001 to finance its
project in Northgate Cyberzone Information Technology Park, its other projects and its
working capital requirements.
The syndicated and long-term loans carry a term ranging from five to eight-years and were
granted by several banks and financial institutions.
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US$22 million Dollar Loan Agreement with IFC
In July 2001, FAI entered into a US$22 million loan agreement with International Finance
Corporation (IFC). In October 2001, the Company received US$16 million proceeds
representing a portion of the original loan availment.
The loan agreements provide restrictions and requirements with respect to, among others,
payment of cash dividends, making any distribution on FAI’s share capital, purchase,
redemption or acquisition of any share of the companies, incurrence or assumption of
indebtedness, sale or transfer and disposal of all or a substantial part of its capital assets,
utilization of funds, maintaining certain financial ratios, and entering into any partnership,
merger, consolidation or reorganization. The loans are secured by mortgage on certain parcels
of land of FAI. The Company has duly executed a guarantee agreement in favor of the lenders
for the performance of all the obligations under the terms and conditions set forth in the loan
agreements.
The exchange rates used to translate the US dollar denominated loans to Philippine peso were
=53.254 and P
P
=51.690 per US $1 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Net foreign
exchange losses charged against income amounted to P
=27.4 million in 2002.

15. Bonds Payable
Bonds payable consist of:
2001
2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
(In US Dollar)
(In Philippine Peso)
$2,150
=111,133
P
$2,150
=114,496
P
500
25,845
500
26,627
56,923
2,942,350
–
–
–
–
1,200,000
–
$59,573
=3,079,328
P
$2,650
=1,341,123
P
2002

FCIL bonds
FDCCCIL bonds
FLICL bonds
Convertible bonds
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FCIL Bonds
The bonds issued by FCIL may be converted any time between April 30, 1994 and January 31,
2004 into the Company’s common shares at an adjusted conversion price of P
=11.04 per share with
the option to convert 100% of the value of each bond into the Company’s shares or 65% of the
value of each bond into the Company’s shares and the remaining 35% into FLI common shares
held by the Company, at an adjusted conversion price of P
=5.07. The initial rate of exchange on
conversions shall be fixed at P
=27.75 for every US$1, subject to adjustments in certain events.
Interest on the bonds is payable on February 28 of each year, commencing on February 28, 1995.
On February 28, 1994, the Company signed a Trust Deed with FCIL to unconditionally guarantee
FCIL’s US$100.0 million, 3.75% convertible bonds due in 2004.
FDCCCIL Bonds
The bonds issued by FDCCCIL may be converted any time between July 15, 1996 and
April 15, 2006 into fully-paid common shares of the Company at the adjusted conversion price of
=26.16 per US$1. The bonds may
=12.85 per share, at a fixed rate of exchange on conversion of P
P
also be redeemed, at the option of the bondholders, in whole or in part at 133.27% of their
principal amount, together with accrued interest thereon, on November 15, 2001. Interest on the
bonds is payable on May 15 of each year commencing on May 15, 1997.
On May 15, 1996, the Company signed an Indenture/Trust Deed with FDCCCIL to
unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee FDCCCIL’s US$150 million, 2.5% convertible bonds.
Bonds amounting to US$70.6 million in 2001 were repurchased and subsequently cancelled.
FLICL Bonds
On July 25, 1996, FLICL initiated an offering of its US$100.0 million SUPeR Guaranteed
Convertible Bonds. The bonds are convertible at the option of the holders any time during the
conversion period into FLI shares at an initial conversion price of P
=11.20 per share, subject to
adjustments in certain events, at a fixed foreign exchange rate conversion of P
=26.192 per US$1.00.
Interest on the bonds is payable semi-annually since February 1, 1997. Interest accrue at the rate
of 3.75% per annum up to July 31, 1999 and at the rate of 6.25% per annum from August 1, 1999
until the bonds mature in 2002
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On August 1, 1996, FLI signed an Indenture/Trust Deed with FLICL to unconditionally and
irrevocably guarantee the issuance of the convertible bonds by FLICL. Proceeds from the issuance
of the convertible bonds were used to help finance the continued construction of low cost and
affordable housing units and the development of other on-going projects of FLI.
The related borrowing cost capitalized as part of “Land and Land Development” account amounted
to P
=18.50 million and P
=210.62 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.
In December 2001, FLI entered into short-term forward exchange contracts with a local bank to
establish the amounts of the US Dollar currency required to repay the complete redemption of
SUPeR Guaranteed Convertible Bonds on February 8, 2002. As of December 31, 2001, the
outstanding short-term forward exchange contracts to purchase Dollar currency amounted to
US$6.0 million with average contracted forward rates of P
=52.0 to US$1. FLI has no outstanding
forward contract as of December 31, 2002.
FLICL bonds amounting to US$7.1 million in 2001 was repurchased and subsequently cancelled.
On February 7, 2002, FLICL bonds amounting to US$56.9 million were redeemed in full at
121.89% of principal plus accrued interest of $1.84 million.

Convertible Bonds
On February 7, 2002, FLI issued P
=1.2 billion convertible bonds to Reco Grandhomes Pte, Ltd.
(Reco), a Singaporean company, due on February 7, 2007. The bonds are convertible into FLI’s
shares of stock at the option of the holders at any time during the conversion period at an amount
equivalent to the historical weighted average market price of the shares plus 10% thereon, but shall
not in any event be less than P
=1.70 nor more than P
=1.875 per share, subject to adjustments in
certain events. Interest on the bonds is payable semi-annually in arrears commencing on August 7,
2002 at the rate of 10% per annum until the bonds mature in February 2007. Proceeds from the
issuance of the convertible bonds were used for the complete redemption of SUPeR Guaranteed
Convertible Bonds issued on August 1, 1996.
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16. Capital Stock
The details of capital stock are as follows:
2001
2002
(Amounts in Thousands)
Capital Stock - P
=1 par value
Preferred - cumulative
Authorized - 2,000,000,000 shares
Common
Authorized - 8,000,000,000 shares
Issued - 5,958,124,000 shares

=5,958,124
P

=5,958,124
P

The preferred stock shall be issued subject to the following conditions, rights, preferences,
qualifications, and limitations:
a. The holder thereof shall be entitled to dividends at the rate to be determined by the Board
of Directors prior to issuance of the preferred stock. The dividends are payable out of the
surplus profits of the Company so long as such preferred stock is outstanding.
b. Dividends on preferred stock shall be payable on the last business day of each calendar
period as shall be determined by the Board of Directors prior to the issuance of such
preferred stock. Preferred stock shall not be entitled to participate in any such dividends
paid to the holders of common stock. Accumulation of dividends shall not bear interest.
c. In the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, receivership, bankruptcy
or winding up of the affairs of the Company, except in the case of a merger or
consolidation, the holders of the preferred stock shall be entitled to be paid in full at par, or
ratably, in Philippine currency, insofar as the assets of the Company will permit, for each
share of preferred stock held, together with the accumulated and unpaid dividends thereon,
up to date of distribution, before any distribution is made to holders of common stock.
After the holders of the preferred stock shall have received their share in distribution, the
remaining assets of the Company shall be appropriated to the holders of common stock.
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d. Beginning on the fourth year up to the day before the end of the fifth year from the date of
issuance of the preferred stock, the Company, at any one time or from time to time at the
option of the Board of Directors, may redeem in whole or in part the preferred stock at the
time outstanding, upon notice duly given as hereinafter provided, by paying thereof in cash
the amount equal to the par value of the shares to be so redeemed, plus such premium, if
any, (expressed in percentages of the par value) as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors
prior to the issuance of such preferred stock, provided that any and all preferred stock
remaining unredeemed and outstanding shall be redeemed by the Company not later than
the last business day of the fifth year from the date of issuance of the preferred stock, by
paying therefor in cash the amount equal to the par value of the shares to be redeemed.
e. The holders of the preferred stock shall not be entitled to any voting rights or privileges
except in those cases expressly provided by law.
f.

The preferred stock shall not be convertible into any other shares or securities of the
Company.

17. Related Party Transactions
Significant transactions with related parties are as follows:
a. The Company has management agreements with two affiliates engaged in Sugar Central
operations. The management agreements provide for tax, legal, fund management and other
finance related services, purchasing and other corporate services that the Company will render
in connection with finance and administrative functions. In 2002 and 2001, management fee is
based on 10% of the affiliates’ net income before tax and management fee. In 2002,
management fee is based on 7.5% of the affiliates’ gross sales. Management fee included in
consolidated statements of income amounted to P
=137.3 million, P
=24.2 million and
=22.7 million in 2002, 2001, 2000, respectively.
P
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b. FAI has an agreement with the Company for a certain percentage of the management fee
being earned by FAI for management services rendered to FCC are remitted to the
Company for its assignment to FAI of all of its rights and interest in and to FCC.
c. Transactions with Reco, consist mainly of interest bearing cash advances to fund the
PBCom project. In 2002, Reco provided additional advances amounting to P
=20 million.
d. FAI has outstanding long-term loan of P
=25 million from GCK Realty Corporation, an
affiliate. The loan, which bears interest at 10% per and annum payable quarterly in full on
or before September 5, 2004, is included in the “Syndicated and long-term loans” under
the “Long-term debt” account (see Note 14).
e. EWBC has loans and other transactions with affiliates and with certain directors, officers,
stockholders and related interests (DOSRI). Under EWBC’s policy, these loans and other
transactions, which were within limits prescribed by the BSP, were made substantially on
the same terms as with other individuals and businesses of comparable risk.

DOSRI
The General Banking Act and BSP Regulations limit the amount of the loans to DOSRI such that
70% of the loans must be secured and should not exceed the amount of their respective deposits
and book values of their respective investments in EWBC. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
EWBC is in compliance with these regulatory requirements.
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The following shows information relating to DOSRI loans (Amounts in Thousands):

Total outstanding DOSRI loans
Breakdown:
Non-risk DOSRI loans (fully-secured)
Risk DOSRI loans
Percentage of DOSRI loans to total loans
Percentage of unsecured DOSRI loans to
total DOSRI loans
f.

2002
=1,415,517
P
1,415,517
–
14.98%
–

2001
=719,731
P
719,600
131
8.75%
0.02%

Other transactions with related parties include interest-bearing cash advances and various
charges to and from affiliates for administrative and other expenses.

The amounts and the balances arising from the foregoing significant related party transactions
are as follows:
2002
Due from affiliates:
Davao Sugar Central Company
The Palms Country Club
Filinvest Telos
Corporate Technologies, Inc.
Pro-Excel Property Managers, Inc.
Due to affiliates:
Reco
Pacific Sugar Holdings Corp.
ALG Holdings, Inc.
FCC Association, Inc.
Andrew Gotianun Foundation
Davao Sugar Central Company

2001
=–
P

P61,100
=
41,813
4,849
437
–
=108,199
P

–
4,572
–
105
=4,677
P

P543,811
=
426,318
71,920
31,026
13,030
–
=1,086,105
P

=519,599
P
–
116,359
–
30,790
201,902
=868,650
P

Table of Contents

18. Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of:

Interest expense
General and administrative:
Salaries and wages
Depreciation and amortization
Outside services
Foreign exchange loss
Provision for impairment loss
Provision for doubtful accounts
Repairs and maintenance
Travel and transportation
Representation, entertainment and
recreation
Retirement cost
Rent
Bank charges
Others

Marketing expenses

2001
2000
2002
(Amounts In Thousands)
=725,763 P
P
=592,139
=616,441
P
240,061
189,435
168,617
101,109
70,968
69,649
64,637
35,739

201,883
311,480
184,654
203,195
–
–
57,139
42,009

183,347
206,884
112,248
918,394
–
–
33,623
39,018

22,343
16,972
14,933
12,384
321,777
1,945,065

22,692
17,098
22,605
5,038
370,701
2,164,257

20,802
9,500
22,529
3,995
53,080
2,195,559

160,870
=2,105,935
P

167,812
190,673
=2,332,069 P
P
=2,386,232
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19. Cost of Financial and Banking Services
Cost of financial and banking services consist of:
2001
2002
(Amounts In Thousands)
Interest and other borrowings:
Deposit liabilities
Interest expense
Other borrowings
General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and wages
Depreciation
Rent
Representation and entertainment
Travel and transportation

Outside services
Retirement cost
Others
Provision for probable losses
Other (income) expense:
Foreign exchange profits and trading
gain
Service charges, fees and commissions
Foreign exchange losses (gains)
Others

2000

=610,523
P
–
13,870
624,393

=747,695
P
130,524
7,602
885,821

=586,654
P
202,927
44,667
834,248

181,846
79,734
60,374
39,155
29,748

148,409
60,697
49,577
36,234
24,617

129,080
46,009
45,921
32,236
19,171

=23,704
P
431
212,896
627,888
73,619

=18,221
P
295
163,603
501,653
34,011

=22,007
P
1,280
139,858
435,562
4,036

(P
=131,106)
(58,876)
(7,762)
(31,225)
(228,969)
=1,096,931
P

(P
=64,172)
(54,918)
21,953
(12,755)
(109,892)
=1,311,593
P

(P
=40,713)
(37,773)
2,634
(19,110)
(94,962)
=1,178,884
P
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20. Rentals, Sales of Club Shares, Interest and Other Income

Interest income
Foreign exchange gain
Services income
Sales of club shares
Mall and rental revenues
Others

2001
2000
2002
(Amounts In Thousands)
=673,416
P
=946,009
P
=155,581
P
–
–
132,443
24,224
22,770
278,476
97,724
–
254,639
534,286
341,883
591,713
427,749
870,914
235,833
=1,757,399
=2,181,576
P
=1,648,685 P
P

21. Retirement Plan
The Company and certain subsidiaries have their respective funded and non-contributory retirement plans
covering all of their respective full-time regular employees. The plans provide for lump-sum benefits equivalent
to 100% of the employees’ salary for every year of creditable service. The normal retirement age is 60 years
old; however, an employee who attains the age of 55 years old with 15 years of service and opts for an early
retirement is entitled to benefits ranging from 70% to 90% of the normal retirement pay depending on the age
upon retirement.
Based on the latest actuarial valuation dated July 2001, the fair value of the plan assets was
=30.8 million. The actuarial present value of retirement benefits was P
P
=140.0 million. The unfunded actuarial
accrued liability was P
=109.2 million. The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine retirement benefits
were an investment yield of 10% per annum and a salary increase of 12% per annum compounded annually.
Retirement cost charged to operations amounted
=13.5 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
P

to

=21.2
P

million,

=30.8
P

million

and
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22. Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share is computed as follows:

a. Net income
b. Weighted average number of
outstanding common shares
c. Weighted average number of common
shares from potential conversion of
convertible bonds
d. Weighted average number of
outstanding common shares and
potential conversion of convertible
bonds (b+c)
e. Earnings per share - basic (a/b)
f. Earnings per share - diluted (a/d)

2001
2000
2002
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per
Share Amounts)
=499,449
P
=772,589
P
=52,027
P
5,955,725

5,955,725

5,955,725

6,422

6,422

150,128

5,962,147
=0.009
P
=0.009
P

5,962,147
=0.084
P
=0.084
P

6,105,853
=0.130
P
=0.127
P

23. Contingencies
The Group is contingently liable in respect to certain lawsuits and other matters arising out of the
normal course of business. Management believes that the resolution of these contingencies will
not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
There are pending tax assessments and preassessments on EWBC by the Bureau of Internal
Revenue relating to prior tax periods, a substantial portion of which pertains to issues affecting
the banking industry. There are also pending tax assessments against the Company and FAI
relating to 1996 and 1997. Management, through its tax counsels, is contesting these assessments
and preassessments on the ground that factual situations and the legal basis were not considered
and which, if considered, would not give rise to material tax deficiencies.
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The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent liabilities at their
equivalent peso contractual amounts (Amounts in Thousands):

Trust department accounts
Forward exchange bought
Unused commercial letters of credit
Outstanding guarantees
Inward bills for collection
Spot exchange sold
Spot exchange bought
Late deposits/payments received
Outward bills for collection
Unsold travellers’ check
Items held for safekeeping
Others

2002
=1,173,118
P
159,762
154,443
139,801
68,160
53,254
=26,627
P
9,937
9,179
1,752
19
6

2001
=211,253
P
103,380
107,510
99,998
–
–
=103,380
P
7,231
694
–
58
2

24. Merger of EWBC with FCI
On July 11, 2000, the Board of Directors approved, in a special meeting, the merger of EWBC
with FCI. On August 1, 2000, FCI transferred certain assets and liabilities to EWBC.
Pending approval by the BSP and the SEC, the net asset value of the transferred assets and
liabilities amounted to P
=18 million and P
=261.5 million. Any retained earnings or excess assets
shall be treated as additional paid-in capital upon approval of the merger by the BSP and SEC.
Under the Articles of Merger (AOM) dated August 15, 2000, EWBC (as the surviving
corporation) will purchase all the outstanding capital stock of FCI from the FDC in exchange
for 2,622,219 preferred “A” shares of stock of EWBC which was computed based on the net
book value of FCI’s shares as of July 31, 2000. The AOM further stipulates that all rights,
business (except for the investment house license, which shall be surrendered to the SEC),
certain assets and other properties of FCI as well as certain liabilities shall be conveyed,
assigned and transferred to EWBC as of August 1, 2000. On December 19, 2001, the Board of
Directors of EWBC approved a resolution wherein instead of 2,622,219 preferred “A” shares
to be issued to the Company as previously agreed under the AOM, only 2,615,281 preferred
“A” shares will be issued and the excess will be booked as part of the paid-up capital of
EWBC.
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On July 12, 2001 and December 20, 2001, the merger between EWBC and FCI was approved
by the BSP and the SEC, respectively.
FCI was involved in investment house activities. Based on the AOM, the separate existence of
FCI shall cease after the merger.
On January 8, 2002, the EWBC issued 2,615,281 preferred “A” shares of stock in favor of the
Company. This represents the share value of the net assets of FCI, which EWBC assumed on
a 1:1 basis, by virtue of the AOM.
25. Agreements
Project Investments
FAI entered into project investment agreements (PIAs) with various investors to undertake the
development of certain vertical residential projects (the Projects). Under these agreements, the
investors (co-owners and codevelopers of the projects) committed to invest in the Projects by
contributing a proportionate share in the total project cost through capital contributions.
Simultaneous with the signing of the PIAs, each investor opened a trust account to be
maintained in the Investor’s name. EWBC acts as the trustee and will receive, hold, manage
and disburse the fund in trust for the Investor and in a manner set forth in the PIAs and Trust
Agreements. The trustee will also hold in trust for the Investor, the latter’s undivided pro-rata
interest and title to the related project until the same is transferred under the name of the
Investor or his assignee.
FAI, as owner of the lots, grants in favor of the investors an option to purchase the said lots
subject to the terms and conditions as specified in the PIAs.
FAI acts as the Manager of the Projects. In consideration of the services to be rendered, FAI
will receive a management fee of 12% of the total project cost. Actual construction has not yet
started as of December 31, 2002. Cost incurred on the projects of P
=28 million in 2002 and P
=
5.6 million in 2001 representing project design and other related costs were included in the
consolidated balance sheets.
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Share Purchase Agreements
In October 2002, the EWBC signed a share purchase and sale agreement with EBC Strategic
Holdings Corp. (ESHC) for the purchase of Ecology Bank Inc. A deed of sale was executed by
ESHC on January 7, 2003 as an evidence of the consummation of the purchase and sale
transaction.

26. Registrations with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA)
On May 29, 2000, FAI was registered with PEZA pursuant to the provisions of Republic Act
(R.A.) 7916 as an Ecozone Developer/Operator to establish, develop, construct, administer
and operate a special ECOZONE to be known as the Northgate Cyber Zone - Special
Economic Zone in FCC.
On June 6, 2000, CPI was registered with the PEZA pursuant to the provisions of R.A. 7916
as an Ecozone Facilities Enterprise.
On June 29, 2000, NCC was registered with the PEZA as an Ecozone Utilities Enterprise
pursuant to the provisions of R.A. 7916, particularly to provide bandwidth, communication
lines, internet facilities and related support services to locators at the Northgate Cyber Zone Special Economic Zone in FCC.
As registered enterprises, these subsidiaries are entitled to certain tax benefits and nontax
incentives such as exemption from national and local taxes and in lieu thereof, a special five
percent (5%) income tax rate based on gross income (CPI and NCC), and VAT zero-rating of
FAI transactions with its local suppliers.
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27. Income Taxes
The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liability follow:
2002
2001
(Amounts in Thousands)
Current:
Deferred income tax assets on:
NOLCO
Provisions and accruals
Unrealized foreign exchange losses
MCIT
Others
Less valuation allowance

Noncurrent:
Deferred income tax liability on capitalized
borrowing costs

=1,520,339
P
272,208
107,543
68,695
9,289
1,978,074
326,212
=1,651,862
P

=870,128
P
189,566
131,359
40,366
9,179
1,240,598
107,028
=1,133,570
P

=1,337,355
P

=791,778
P
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A reconciliation between of income tax computed at the statutory rate to the provision for
(benefit from) income tax follows:
2002
Income tax at statutory rate
Adjustments for:
Tax-free realized gross profit
on sold socialized housing
units
Realized gross profits on sales
of club shares
Capital gains tax
Interest income subject to final
tax

Gain on sale of investment
Tax-free interest on
HGC-enrolled installment
contracts receivables
Increase in valuation allowance
on deferred income tax assets
Income exempt from tax
Others

=131,806
P

2001
2000
(Amounts in Thousands)
=117,243
P
=235,584
P

(26,407)

(43,277)

(31,555)
4,325

(39,898)
4,219

(87,550)

(4,386)

(6,086)

=–
P

=–
P

(16,431)

(36,453)

(20,518)

212,060
–
(17,672)
=103,808
P

25,126
(28)
(261,672)
(P
=239,126)

51,776
(6,959)
(483,591)
(P
=252,938)

(P
=64,768)

(23,144)
–
–

Details of the Group’s NOLCO and MCIT are as follows (Amounts in Thousands):

Year Incurred
2000
2001
2002

NOLCO
P577,352
=
2,019,486
2,154,222
=4,751,060
P

MCIT
P8,191
=
21,461
39,043
=68,695
P

Expiry Date
December 31, 2003
December 31, 2004
December 31, 2005
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28. Segment Information
The industry segments where the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates operate are as
follows:
Real Estate
This involves planning and development of larges-scale fully integrated residential and
commercial communities; development and sale of residential and commercial lots and the
development and leasing of retail and office space and land in these communities; construction
and sale of residential condominiums and office buildings; development of farm estates,
industrial and business parks; development and sale of middle-income housing; cinema, theater
and mall operations; and property management.
Banking and Financial Services
This involves commercial banking operations, including savings and time deposits in pesos and
foreign currencies; commercial mortgage and agribusiness loans; payment services, fund
transfers, international trade settlements and remittances from overseas workers; trust and
investment services including portfolio management, unit funds, trust administration and estate
planning; and safety deposit facilities.

Financial information on the operations of these business segments are summarized as follows
(Amounts in Millions):
Revenues
2001
2002
Real Estate
operations
Financial
and
Banking
Services

2000

Net Income (Loss)
2001
2000
2002

P
= 3,726

=3,686
P

=4,394
P

(P
= 67)

1,007

1,183

1,095

119

P
= 4,733

=4,869
P

=5,489
P

P
= 52

=555
P

(56)
=499
P

=800
P

(28)
=772
P

Total Assets
2001
2002
P
= 48,941

=48,538
P

14,460

12,195

P
= 63,401

Net Assets
2001
2002
=27,218
27,200 P

2,720

2,581

=60,733 P
P
= 29,920

=29,799
P
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